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          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: The General

          3  Welfare Committee is called to order. Please turn

          4  off your cell phones, if you still have them on.

          5                 I want to start out by saying I'm

          6  sorry for the late start. We were bumped for about a

          7  half hour by our colleagues on the Parks Committee

          8  who had this space from 10:00 on, and we are sorry

          9  if that kept anyone waiting. We haggled as much as

         10  possible to get them to finish as quickly as

         11  possible, and a number of members of this Committee

         12  are next door at Civil Service and Labor and will be

         13  joining us shortly, but in the interest of time,

         14  we'll get started. Again, we appreciate your

         15  patience.

         16                 We're going to just do a very quick

         17  overview presentation, and then go to our guests

         18  from HRA.

         19                 This subject would be important any

         20  time of year, obviously, and this Committee has

         21  looked at the issue of food stamps off and on in the

         22  course of the year, and obviously we also want to

         23  say that we are extremely appreciative of the

         24  efforts of our Public Advocate Betsy Gotbaum, who

         25  has really made this her signature issue and has put
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          2  a lot of energy into bringing the food stamp issue

          3  to the fore and we know we will be hearing further

          4  announcements from her on that shortly, and we

          5  appreciate that, because this is an issue that

          6  cannot get enough attention. It's important

          7  year-round, but I dare say the winter months the

          8  needs get greater for all social services, and I

          9  dare say also that around the time of the holidays

         10  perhaps we're all more conscious of people in need.

         11  So, it's fitting that we're having this hearing at

         12  this point.

         13                 By the way, I should also note we're

         14  going to be joined in just a moment by Council

         15  Member Eric Gioia, the head of the Investigations

         16  Committee. He's just going to do a minute or two on

         17  the work his Committee did related to this issue.

         18                 So, first, a quick overview.

         19  Obviously, for over 30 years the food stamp program

         20  has been part of our culture and it's been a very

         21  positive one, it's helped to feed those in need, and

         22  particularly important, I should say, for children.

         23  And in terms of New York City, it's an incredible

         24  program, it currently serves hundreds of thousands

         25  of people. All of the money is federal that pays for
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          2  the actual food stamps. It helps families to have

          3  adequate nutrition, and it is important to note, it

          4  provides an important source of spending ability in

          5  lower-income neighborhoods. It has a real impact on

          6  stores in those neighborhoods, particularly food and

          7  retailers. And, so, it's a program that helps us on

          8  so many levels.

          9                 Now, let's look at the times we're in

         10  and why the need for food stamps is greater than

         11  ever. First, the economic situation. The amount of

         12  jobs lost in October is very, very sobering, 12,300

         13  lost in October in alone, we're at 7.9 percent,

         14  October being the last month for which we have full

         15  figures, 7.9 percent unemployment in New York City,

         16  in October. And that is a significant increase from

         17  September. In terms of the national picture as well,

         18  unemployment has been rising, so we don't expect any

         19  immediate relief. And, again, what does that do to

         20  families and their ability to provide for the most

         21  basic thing, food for adults and for children?

         22                 Now, food stamps are in greater

         23  demand, or there's greater need for food stamps than

         24  ever before. But it's interesting, in recent years,

         25  up until just very, very recently, there was a
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          2  negative trend in terms of food stamp use. If you

          3  look at this chart, it's a little hard to make out

          4  from here, but what's happened since January of

          5  1996, is there's been a sharp, sharp decline in the

          6  number of New Yorkers who actually take advantage of

          7  food stamps. Amazing figure - 550,000 fewer New

          8  Yorkers received food stamps now than in January of

          9  1996. Just about seven years ago. 1.4 million people

         10  received food stamps at that point, in January of

         11  '96, just 836,000 today.

         12                 Now, again, if you look at this next

         13  slide, there have been some increases recently, and

         14  that's a very good thing, and we commend HRA for its

         15  efforts, and we know there will be more to come in

         16  terms of reaching out and getting more people

         17  involved in the food stamp program. But when you

         18  look at the overall picture, it's quite sobering how

         19  much we have to do.

         20                 This slide is interesting. It

         21  compares the change in unemployment, and how much

         22  unemployment has gone up in New York City and New

         23  York State and across the whole country in the

         24  course over the last year. And it points out that

         25  whereas unemployment, the increase in unemployment
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          2  is roughly the same as the increase in food stamp

          3  participation across the country, and almost the

          4  same in New York State. In New York City there is a

          5  huge disparity. We've had a very sharp rise in

          6  unemployment, but a very small increase in the

          7  number of people accessing food stamps.

          8                 And, again, you would think it would

          9  be the most logical thing in the world for the two

         10  to correlate, and that means there's something more

         11  we have to be doing, both in how we run the food

         12  stamp programs locally, and how we reach out to

         13  people who could take advantage.

         14                 Again, further evidence of the need

         15  in the next slide. Soup kitchens, food pantries are

         16  facing extremely sharp increases in demand.

         17  Forty-five percent more people taking advantage of

         18  soup kitchens and food pantries this year than just

         19  two years ago. And the latest estimates we have,

         20  about 800,000 people in New York City who qualify

         21  for food stamps today and are not involved in the

         22  program.

         23                 Now, again, part of the problem with

         24  any type of benefit, and this Committee has worked

         25  on earned income tax credit, and Medicaid and a
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          2  whole range of benefits and there is commonalities

          3  among all of them. We still haven't found the

          4  perfect outreach program for any benefit, and we

          5  still have trouble in any agency making sure

          6  everyone who deserves them gets them.

          7                 But what we need to look at also is,

          8  are we doing everything we can currently to make the

          9  process as streamlined and simple as possible?

         10                 Well, in the case of food stamps, the

         11  relevant federal agency that oversees the program is

         12  United States Department of Agriculture. And when

         13  looking at New York City's program in recent years

         14  there have been some real concerns raised by the

         15  USDA. We will have a representative from that agency

         16  here in the next panel, the second panel.

         17                 But this quote, significant quote

         18  from USDA, "[O]ur reviewers found that local offices

         19  are still in substantial non-compliance with federal

         20  requirements relating to Food Stamp Program access."

         21                 And then a second quote from the

         22  recent report: "Despite increased oversight by OTDA,

         23  [our] Reviewers found that a number of critical

         24  applicant rights remain unprotected in New York

         25  City."
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          2                 Now, again, the idea of us raising

          3  this is not to say that there is anything willful

          4  here. It's not an effort, in our view, to not be

          5  helpful to food stamp applicants. What's going on

          6  here, we believe, is that we have a lot of work to

          7  do throughout all relevant agencies to make sure

          8  that all city employees know how to facilitate

          9  getting food stamps to those in need and that we

         10  have to make sure the information is readily

         11  accessible in as many places as possible.

         12                 We've seen some very impressive

         13  recent progress in terms of earned income tax

         14  credit, and I'm hoping we can follow some of that

         15  same progress in terms of food stamps.

         16                 Just a couple of other quick points.

         17  One of the most difficult problems in any

         18  bureaucratic process, it's certainly true with food

         19  stamps, is the application itself, and Council

         20  Member Gioia certainly found that during his

         21  investigation, the current food stamp application is

         22  16 pages long.

         23                 Now, this Committee is a very

         24  high-road committee, and what I've said before,

         25  we're not a gotcha-type of committee, but we do
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          2  occasionally have to be very visual. So, this is a

          3  food stamp application. As you can see, I could keep

          4  going, but I think I've made the point. It's a very

          5  basic need, and we need the applications to be as

          6  simple as we need. And we found recently, and this

          7  Committee held a very, very interesting and

          8  important hearing related to disaster relief

          9  Medicaid, we found as was true with the Medicaid

         10  process immediately after 9/11, that you can turn an

         11  application like this into a page or two, ensure

         12  that people end up getting the benefit they need,

         13  and do a background check afterwards, and what we

         14  believe will happen is some people would be found

         15  actually ineligible after the fact, but it will be a

         16  very small percentage, and what it means is the vast

         17  majority who really do have need will get their

         18  support in a very expedited manner.

         19                 So, finally, the bottom line. We have

         20  greater need for food support than we have had in

         21  many years. We have the best program known in this

         22  country to provide that support, it's entirely

         23  federally funded and it helps our neighborhoods as

         24  well and contributes to our local economy.

         25                 We've got to make sure we're doing
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          2  everything we can to help people who are currently

          3  trying to get food stamps, and we're to make sure

          4  that people realize, who may have no idea today that

          5  they are eligible, that they, too, have a right to

          6  this program that can help themselves and their

          7  children so profoundly.

          8                 And I've asked just for a minute or

          9  two, Council Member Gioia, just to reiterate a

         10  couple of findings that he found from the

         11  Investigations Committee and then we will go to our

         12  first panel.

         13                 Council Member.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Thank you, Mr.

         15  Chair. And thank you, one, for having this hearing

         16  today; and, two, for your leadership on the other

         17  issues that you enumerated from disaster relief

         18  Medicaid to the earned income tax credit. You are

         19  quickly becoming a real champion for those most in

         20  need around the City. So, thank you for all of your

         21  work. And thank you, Madam Commissioner, for being

         22  here today.

         23                 During the weeks of November 25th

         24  through December 2nd, as you know, the Council's

         25  Committee on Oversight and Investigation conducted
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          2  an anonymous investigation to determine the

          3  availability of food stamp applications at offices

          4  and job centers across New York City.

          5                 I don't want to take up all of your

          6  time by going through the findings, but as I think

          7  you are familiar with them, I know we sent you a

          8  copy of it, and I don't want this to be a gotcha

          9  hearing, because I know you share our concerns as

         10  well, and what I hope we could do today in this

         11  hearing was really talk about ways that we could

         12  work together to make food stamp applications more

         13  accessible and break down some of the barriers that

         14  my Committee, that our investigation did find. So,

         15  thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you,

         17  Council member. And thank you for your very helpful

         18  investigation.

         19                 I'll just introduce our colleagues,

         20  Council Member Jose Serrano, Jr., Council Member

         21  Bill Perkins, and I know next door, Council Member

         22  Larry Seabrook and Council Member Dennis Gallagher

         23  will be joining us shortly, and Council Member

         24  Kendall Stewart. Your timing is impeccable.

         25                 Commissioner, good afternoon. We
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          2  welcome you, Commissioner Eggleston, and Deputy

          3  Commissioner Seth Diamond. And a happy holidays to

          4  you.

          5                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Yeah, right.

          6  Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Typical New

          8  Yorker. That's her response.

          9                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Absolutely.

         10  And I welcome the opportunity to speak on this issue

         11  for the two and a half time, and any opportunity I

         12  get to talk about issues all the way through change,

         13  I guess is a good thing.

         14                 I made some comments on the draft

         15  document, sir, that I could tell you that -- would

         16  you like to share it? I mean, I can hope that as we

         17  work together that we not produce documents like

         18  this, because it can embarrass us all. So, I'll

         19  bring it up to you, if you want.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: I haven't seen

         21  that. And as I --

         22                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: There's some

         23  corrections.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: I'll be happy

         25  to take it.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Okay.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: And as I said,

          4  we really, we have not done a full-blown report on

          5  this because I don't think --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Commissioner, I

          7  think the idea here is that we requested an

          8  investigation because there was an ongoing concern,

          9  with a limited time frame the Investigations

         10  Committee put something together that I think is

         11  quite helpful, and if you have a disagreement with

         12  it, we welcome it. You have a public opportunity to

         13  make some of your points. It's a perfectly open

         14  process.

         15                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Okay. Because

         16  we started with you producing the application. That

         17  application is not just for food stamps. That would

         18  be number one.

         19                 That application is for food stamps,

         20  cash and Medicaid. Number two, it's a state

         21  application. And I share with you the very same

         22  concern. If I can transfer that application into a

         23  one-pager, I would do it right now.

         24                 Third point: We can replicate what

         25  you saw in disaster Medicaid, if I had jurisdiction
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          2  or power over my jurisdiction. My jurisdiction as

          3  the Administrator and Commissioner of Social

          4  Services for the City of New York, allows me to make

          5  decisions within my discretion in any emergency,

          6  without any deference to the State Department of

          7  Social Services.

          8                 So, if I had my druthers, I would

          9  like to set policy in an emergency mode where I have

         10  full authority every day, but in the real world, I

         11  have to defer to the State.

         12                 In Onondaga County, they are

         13  piloting, and they have received a waiver from the

         14  State, a one-pager; however, the State Department of

         15  Social Services says that I must wait until their

         16  pilot is over before I request from them the

         17  opportunity to test that very same thing here in New

         18  York.

         19                 I am so with this Committee that I

         20  cannot emphasize how much I'm with this Committee.

         21                 I want this Committee to constantly,

         22  continuously be reminded that in my first lifecycle

         23  at HRA I ran the Emergency Assistance Unit in all

         24  five boroughs of the City of New York.

         25                 I issued grants from my emergency
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          2  assistance units from the amount of 50,000 to

          3  150,000 dollars a day. I could open up a full case,

          4  if I wanted to. Somewhere during the time of my

          5  absence in the world of private and the

          6  implementation of welfare reform, emergency

          7  assistance is a non-entity in the City of New York.

          8  It is now immediate needs. Immediate needs has been

          9  so defined and so whittled down that that probably

         10  gives me the opportunity to give somebody a personal

         11  care package with a toothbrush and a toothpaste. I

         12  ask this Committee one more time, assist me in

         13  regaining the authority over my social services

         14  jurisdiction. I do not mind you holding me

         15  accountable, but you must also hold all of the other

         16  entities that have a jurisdiction over me

         17  accountable, because to bring me in this Chamber and

         18  to have me answer to the rigid boundaries that tie

         19  my hands and prevent me to doing the work that I've

         20  done for 28 years, and know instinctually from the

         21  point of being a case worker to a Commissioner,

         22  serving 11 years in HRA myself in every division

         23  before my return, is not helpful to us or the

         24  citizens of New York specifically. The City, the

         25  State, and the federal government are in
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          2  contradiction in policy to the way we issue goods

          3  and services.

          4                 A specific example: There's a

          5  contradiction within the federal government itself,

          6  but more specifically the federal government says

          7  seven days for issuance. The State says five days

          8  after application. New York City does it the same

          9  day.

         10                 We don't do the seven day as required

         11  by the feds, investigating, we don't do it five

         12  days, as the state, we do it the same day at the

         13  risk of being sanctioned, at the risk of being out

         14  of compliance with state and federal mandates. Why?

         15  Because we're a City that no way ever, in our

         16  counties, five of them, Kings County, Bronx County,

         17  Manhattan County, you name it, our county, the

         18  County of Kings would never be like Onondaga.  Bronx

         19  would never be like Syracuse.

         20                 I've asked the State from January to

         21  now, I probably have about three to four waivers in

         22  policy sitting on the State, the last waiver on

         23  behalf of the Mayor of the City of New York asked

         24  the State to give me a waiver on immediate needs,

         25  let me make decisions on presumptive eligibility as
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          2  it related to the specific problems we had serving

          3  our clients. It was denied. The request was denied.

          4                 So, I'll let the man who does the

          5  work every day -- I just have the great fortune of

          6  speaking about the work, but Seth Diamond, my Deputy

          7  Commissioner, who does the work every day, who knows

          8  what it's like to serve in an agency that had the

          9  highest number of people lost in the retirement

         10  package, 1,300 to be exact, who knows how it is to

         11  inherit an organization at the beginning of my

         12  tenure in January with 3,800 vacancies, who knows

         13  what it's like where food stamps in the former

         14  Administration was used as the carrot and the stick

         15  because there was no specific paradigm as it related

         16  to welfare reform, who has to come into an

         17  organization that's under a federal mandate of

         18  welfare reform with no specific paradigm around home

         19  relief clients, shift philosophically people's minds

         20  to get them to thinking that food stamps are not

         21  carrots nor sticks, have no relationship to welfare

         22  reform, but is something that people are entitled

         23  to, in a very short time, and see the increases in

         24  my Administration that you have seen, brings a lot

         25  of concern.
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          2                 So, I'm doing the best that I can,

          3  and I thank you folks for all your feedback.

          4  Continue to hold me accountable. Because the more

          5  you hold me accountable, the more letters of request

          6  I can send to the State Department of Social

          7  Services asking for waivers.

          8                 Seth.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Commissioner,

         10  let me just interrupt.

         11                 Seth, just one second.

         12                 I appreciate that final statement,

         13  and I think it's just crucial that we all, to the

         14  maximum extent possible, be on the same page. We

         15  feel very, very close to your position on the need

         16  for greater independence and greater freedom of

         17  action, and we do support it and we're happy to do

         18  so in any way that you find helpful.

         19                 And by the way, I think you'll find

         20  from Council Members across the Board, a feeling

         21  that there's a lot of the elements of the State/City

         22  relationship and the federal City relationship that

         23  disempower New York City, whether it's on the

         24  educational level, taxation level, human services.

         25  You name it, and we have a bigger structural problem
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          2  we're all fighting together. So, yes, we do support

          3  you on that. And when we raise a concern or speak, I

          4  should hasten to add, many times it has nothing to

          5  do with, you know, what happens within the

          6  decision-making structure of HRA alone, or in your

          7  particular decisions. It's a broader problem, and we

          8  don't doubt for a moment that the federal government

          9  and the State government can be contributing to that

         10  problem, even if inadvertently. But the reason, in

         11  my view, it's crucial to do these type of hearings

         12  is not just to hold HRA accountable, but to shine on

         13  a light on the issue that desperately needs further

         14  public debate and focus, and hopefully, that will

         15  help bring some progress for all of us.

         16                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: If that's our

         17  intent, sir, then let's make sure the public has all

         18  the information.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Absolutely.

         20  That's our desire. That's why you get to testify.

         21                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: You can't

         22  hold up an application, nor can I walk up to your

         23  dais saying look at the corrections you need. But

         24  those would be two examples of where we don't want

         25  to work in this Administration. So we did it, we got
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          2  it out of our system, let's keep it moving and let's

          3  do the work.

          4                 That's my primary point.

          5                 There are so many social services

          6  pieces that will impact on City New Yorkers. If we

          7  don't address them in a holistic way, right now at

          8  HRA with the food stamp, we look at liens. New York

          9  City is one of the only states left putting liens on

         10  people's properties after we give them assistance.

         11  While I'm carrying this ball, sir, as I entertain

         12  families who suffered from World Trade Center, as I

         13  talk to families who suffered the crisis of Flight

         14  587, to know that I, as a Commissioner, have my

         15  Legal Department go after them for $2 worth of food

         16  stamps? So the legislative agenda is huge, and we

         17  have to stay focused, and I welcome, and I thank you

         18  so much for giving me the opportunity to be honest,

         19  although you tell me I shouldn't be so honest -- I

         20  wasn't supposed to say that, right?

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: No, you weren't

         22  supposed to say that.

         23                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: I have to be

         24  because I did the work, and I will continue to do

         25  that. But I thank you, and I thank this Committee. I
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          2  mean, you know, I really do. I thank this Committee.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I know you do.

          4  And, Commissioner, I'm sorry, I just have to say, I

          5  just want you to know, and I want everyone to know,

          6  when we hold this up, it's not about you, it's not

          7  about HRA, I don't care who wrote it, I don't care

          8  who forces it down our throats, it's just to say --

          9  and I tell you, a year ago before I became

         10  chairperson, I never in a million years would have

         11  imagined that this was this, but this is for all of

         12  our goods to understand it.

         13                 Go ahead, Deputy Commissioner.

         14                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         15  DIAMOND: Thank you. My name is Seth Diamond, and I'm

         16  here with Commissioner Eggleston this afternoon to

         17  talk about the agency's food and food stamps

         18  program.

         19                 Food assistance plays many critical

         20  roles in our City. For some working families

         21  struggling to pay bills in a difficult economy, food

         22  assistance allows them to continue using their

         23  limited income for other critical needs.

         24                 For senior citizens with high medical

         25  costs, having food assistance may give them the
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          2  ability to afford all the medications they need.

          3                 For someone making a transition from

          4  welfare to work, food stamps can give them a little

          5  extra cushion as they move into the working world.

          6                 HRA is committed to working with

          7  individuals in all situations, and to ensuring that

          8  all eligible New Yorkers receive the food assistance

          9  to which they are entitled.

         10                 To meet this enormous challenge, HRA

         11  has continued to adapt the food stamp program to

         12  meet the needs of New Yorkers. We already have a

         13  network of offices throughout the City where every

         14  individual can apply for food stamps.

         15                 Currently there are offices located

         16  in almost every neighborhood in the City where

         17  individuals can apply.

         18                 Twenty-four of those offices are for

         19  food stamps only and 30 for those interested in

         20  applying for food stamps combined with cash

         21  assistance.

         22                 In addition to being open during

         23  business hours, at least one non-public assistance

         24  food stamp office per borough, except in Staten

         25  Island, is open during the evening and on weekends
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          2  to handle food stamp only individuals who cannot

          3  apply or be seen during traditional hours.

          4                 We also have recently hired nearly

          5  120 staff to work specifically in food stamp

          6  offices. They recently completed training and are

          7  now serving people in offices throughout the City.

          8                 We welcome assistance from City

          9  Council members and community-based organizations in

         10  directing people in need of food stamps to a

         11  convenient office.

         12                 We acknowledge that getting to an

         13  open office is only part of the challenge to

         14  obtaining food stamps. Applicants must also be able

         15  to understand what materials they need to complete

         16  the requirements for obtaining food stamps.

         17                 As you know, the food stamp centers

         18  use the state application, the one that you held up,

         19  that is normally available in English and in Spanish

         20  only.

         21                 However, the State application was

         22  recently revised and the Spanish version has not yet

         23  been made available.

         24                 To help our diverse population meet

         25  the need to understand the requirements for
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          2  obtaining food stamps, a great cost to the City, we

          3  have translated the City's joint public assistance

          4  and food stamp application, as well as a number of

          5  other City developed food stamp related forms into

          6  nine languages. These languages are Arabic, Chinese,

          7  French, Haitian-Creole, Korean, Russian, Spanish,

          8  Vietnamese and Yiddish.

          9                 We have also increased the number of

         10  bilingual workers in our centers and if additional

         11  assistance is needed, we have other resources

         12  available to provide interpreter services, including

         13  a directory of community organizations and bilingual

         14  interpreter staff, in contracts that provide

         15  telephone and on-site interpreter services.

         16                 Finally, our agency call center, the

         17  HRA info line office, has bilingual operators

         18  available to handle calls from individuals who need

         19  assistance.

         20                 HRA also works with outside community

         21  organizations to provide food stamp outreach

         22  services. Hundreds of workers at community-based

         23  organizations have been trained by HRA and regularly

         24  refer individuals to food stamp offices.

         25                 Joel Berg of the New York Coalition
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          2  Against Hunger is a member of our Citizens Advisory

          3  Board. I think this demonstrates our willingness to

          4  work with advocates and hear new ideas.

          5                 We also do our own outreach through a

          6  variety of organizations and let individuals know

          7  about what assistance may be available.

          8                 For example, HRA is working with the

          9  Mayor's Office to coordinate a major campaign to let

         10  immigrants know that they may now be eligible for

         11  food stamps.

         12                 As you may know, the Personal

         13  Responsibility and Work Opportunity Reconciliation

         14  Act of 1996 denied food stamp eligibility to

         15  thousands of legal immigrants. New York City

         16  believed this denial was wrong, and together with

         17  the State we developed a separate food stamp program

         18  for many immigrant individuals who were ineligible

         19  for federal assistance.

         20                 While a local program existed, the

         21  City believed the better approach was for legal

         22  immigrants to be restored to food stamp eligibility.

         23                 Fortunately, in 1998, Congress

         24  restored food stamps to immigrants who were 65 years

         25  of age or older and lawfully residing in the United
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          2  States on or before August 22nd, 1996, as well as to

          3  those immigrants who were or subsequently became

          4  disabled, and to immigrant children under age 18 who

          5  were in the United States on or before that date.

          6                 The Food Stamp Reauthorization Act

          7  signed into law on May 13th, 2002, further extended

          8  food stamp eligibility to any qualified alien who

          9  receives blind or disability benefits regardless of

         10  date of entry, is under 18 regardless of age --

         11  under 18 years of age regardless of date of entry,

         12  or who has lived in the US as a qualified alien for

         13  five years beginning on the date of entry. And those

         14  changes take effect in three stages, starting this

         15  past October.

         16                 We will be working closely with the

         17  Mayor's Office of immigrant affairs and with

         18  community organizations that serve immigrant

         19  populations to ensure the affected groups know of

         20  their eligibility and can apply for benefits.

         21                 We anticipate this campaign being

         22  successful and we welcome participation by Council

         23  members and their staff.

         24                 We also take very seriously the right

         25  every individual has to obtain an application for
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          2  food stamps and to be seen by a worker on the first

          3  day they present themselves to an office.

          4                 We regularly ask undercover workers

          5  to go to job centers often late in the day to seek

          6  to obtain an application and to ensure that they

          7  will be seen that same day. While in the

          8  overwhelming number of cases individuals will be

          9  told they will be seen that day, the same day they

         10  apply, in cases where the potential applicant is

         11  told they will not be seen, we have taken

         12  disciplinary action against the worker.

         13                 This information is also used in our

         14  JobStat process for evaluating the performance of

         15  center directors.

         16                 In this respect, we appreciate the

         17  feedback afforded us through the report on the

         18  availability of food stamp applications that was

         19  issued by the Committee on Investigations last week.

         20                 We have already corrected all of the

         21  addresses on our Internet site that were noted as

         22  being incorrect, for example.

         23                 As to the other findings, we are

         24  investigating them to determine what is the

         25  situation at our offices and what is the corrective
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          2  action, if any, that needs to be taken, and we have

          3  the issues that Commissioner Eggleston pointed out

          4  on some of the methodology of the report.

          5                 By continuing to test our system with

          6  undercover applicants, be they yours or ours, we can

          7  continually gauge how well our response to

          8  applicants is actually working and make appropriate

          9  adjustments as needed.

         10                 As a result of these and other

         11  efforts, the food stamp rolls have been increasing.

         12  As of December 2002, nearly 22,851 more households

         13  are receiving food stamps today than were receiving

         14  them a year ago. This includes a 12 percent increase

         15  in the number of SSI and food stamp only households.

         16                 This is the highest number of SSI and

         17  food stamp only households in over 20 years, since

         18  May of 1991, that are receiving food stamps.

         19                 These substantial increases have

         20  provided much needed assistance to many New Yorkers

         21  facing difficult times.

         22                 We have not stopped with the efforts

         23  I have outlined. We're always looking for ways to

         24  improve the system to provide benefits to those who

         25  are eligible to receive them.
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          2                 We have worked closely with New York

          3  State to put technology to use, to ensure that

          4  people receive the food stamps to which they are

          5  entitled.

          6                 For example, many individuals whose

          7  federally funded cash assistance case closes because

          8  they obtained employment now receive five months of

          9  additional food stamps. No separate application from

         10  the individual and no action other than entering the

         11  new income, is required on the part of the HRA

         12  worker during the initial five-month period.

         13                 After that, if the individual

         14  requires further food assistance, they can apply at

         15  one of our offices.

         16                 Food assistance has now joined child

         17  care and medical insurance as part of a critically

         18  important transitional benefit package available to

         19  newly employed individuals.

         20                 Also, just last week we began to

         21  process automatically food stamp benefits for

         22  individuals who had been on cash assistance and are

         23  now receiving SSI.

         24                 This process, which replaces a

         25  cumbersome manual process, will ensure these
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          2  vulnerable individuals receive food stamps when they

          3  transition from public assistance to SSI.

          4                 We also implemented a two-year

          5  recertification for SSI food stamp recipients

          6  replacing an annual requirement. This improvement

          7  will allow these individuals to maintain eligibility

          8  for benefits more easily.

          9                 In addition, we are working with the

         10  State to ensure that other individuals who receive

         11  cash assistance combined with food stamps can, if

         12  they are eligible, make a seamless transition to

         13  receiving food stamps only. Over the next several

         14  months, the State will be adding additional

         15  categories of cases to those for whom an automatic

         16  transition process can be completed.

         17                 We are now using a labor intensive

         18  manual process. The transition to an automated

         19  process will improve matters for the workers and for

         20  the people we serve.

         21                 We have tried to better serve

         22  low-income New Yorkers by trying to simultaneously

         23  meet their food assistance and medical needs.

         24                 Individuals apply for food stamps

         25  only, we now ask them if they have health insurance.
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          2  If the do not, the worker completes a form and

          3  begins the Medicaid enrollment process.

          4                 We believe this coordinated response

          5  better addresses the realities our clients face.

          6                 We believe all of these steps have

          7  improved our program. For example, the City's food

          8  stamp error rate for federal fiscal year 2001, the

          9  last year for which complete data was available,

         10  showed a 36 percent improvement over the last,

         11  previous year. This level of improvement was one of

         12  the top five in the nation. This year's data is not

         13  complete, but at this time, we're ahead of last

         14  year's result.

         15                 We have also began working with the

         16  Rushmore Group, a nationally known organization that

         17  provides assistance on improving food stamp quality

         18  control issues.

         19                 The Rushmore Group is under contract

         20  to the State of New York and is actively working on

         21  food stamps quality control issues.

         22                 They will provide case reviews, staff

         23  training and other guidance over the next 12 months.

         24                 The federal government has also noted

         25  significant improvement in the City's administration

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            33

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  of their food stamp program.

          3                 I was told that you may be discussing

          4  a recent USDA report later, and you highlighted in

          5  your earlier presentation. But I wanted to make sure

          6  you're aware that the beginning of the report

          7  mentioned several areas where the City program has

          8  improved in recent years. These areas improve the

          9  availability of applications, the ability of

         10  individuals to apply on the same day they arrived at

         11  the center, and the screening of individuals for

         12  expedited or emergency service.

         13                 The report did list several areas

         14  where further work is required. We have a plan in

         15  place to address each of these matters, and have

         16  shared that plan with the State of New York.

         17                 It's also important to note that in

         18  several instances the USDA report states, the City

         19  provided food stamp benefits too generously. For

         20  example, the report cites the City for providing

         21  emergency or expedited service to individuals who

         22  have not come back to complete an application

         23  interview from some previous application.

         24                 One problem the City and its workers

         25  confront daily, and is a barrier to effectively
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          2  administering the food stamp program, is its

          3  complexity. Commissioner Eggleston mentioned that a

          4  few minutes ago.

          5                 We welcome the Council's suggestions

          6  and advocacy for simplifying the food stamp

          7  application rules. Working together we can develop a

          8  program that provides the benefits people are

          9  entitled to, while ensuring the integrity our

         10  constituents demand.

         11                 Assisting people to access food

         12  stamps is only one part of our efforts to provide

         13  food assistance to New Yorkers.

         14                 In addition, HRA's Office of Food

         15  Programs and Policy Coordination seeks to improve

         16  nutritional status of low-income New Yorkers by

         17  providing education about food stamp eligibility and

         18  general nutrition and administering the distribution

         19  of non-perishable food commodities to 620 active

         20  emergency food stamp programs, soup kitchens and

         21  food pantries.

         22                 OFPPC has two components. The

         23  Emergency Food Assistance Program funds and monitors

         24  the operation of 620 food pantries and soup

         25  kitchens, the staff visits, the emergency food
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          2  relief organizations, at least four times per year

          3  to ensure that eligibility criteria and guidelines

          4  and food stamp regulations are adhered to.

          5                 In addition, technical assistance is

          6  provided to aid the programs while maintaining the

          7  maximum quality of service.

          8                 In City Fiscal Year 2002, HRA

          9  distributed 14.6 million pounds of food that fed

         10  11.1 million people. OFPPC's food stamp nutrition

         11  outreach program is also known as Project 10, for

         12  teaching, education and nutrition. And that program

         13  specializes in educating the general public about

         14  food stamp programs.

         15                 The staff disseminates eligibility

         16  information and assists with the application process

         17  at sites such as emergency food programs, hospitals,

         18  public libraries and community council offices,

         19  where people seeking food stamp offices appear on a

         20  recurring basis.

         21                 On average we assist 232 households

         22  per month at these locations.

         23                 The unit is also regularly invited to

         24  health and school fairs. They share in nutritional

         25  recipes and materials on the effects of good
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          2  nutrition with the public.

          3                 All nutritional information are

          4  obtained through OFPPC's association with the

          5  Community Food Resource Center, Cornell Cooperative

          6  Extension, which also sponsors the Eat Smart New

          7  York Campaign, and the New York City Nutritional

          8  Education Network.

          9                 The funding for CFRC's Food Force is

         10  administered through OFPPC. The contract provides

         11  for additional food stamp outreach.

         12                 Food Force is designed to provide --

         13  to increase poor New Yorker's access to food stamps

         14  and other food stamp benefits by providing a

         15  computerized pre-screening to an interested

         16  participant.

         17                 This information assists the

         18  applicant with the process. Moreover, we are

         19  coordinating our food stamp outreach efforts with

         20  the Mayor's Office of Health Insurance Access. When

         21  they distribute information about access to health

         22  care, they include information about access to food

         23  stamps.

         24                 In addition, CFRC operates the Food

         25  Stamp Media Campaign, also known as The Food Card.
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          2  This initiative serves to advertise the food stamp

          3  program and disseminates general information to

          4  radio, pamphlets and Transit billboards.

          5                 The Office of Food Programs is a

          6  member of the Policy Committee on New York City

          7  Hunger Resources. This Committee is composed of

          8  representatives from City Harvest, the Food Bank for

          9  New York, Food for Survival, United Way New York

         10  City, the New York State Hunger Prevention and

         11  Nutrition Assistance Program, and the New York City

         12  Department of Health and Mental Hygiene.

         13                 Through a collaborative effort, this

         14  Committee seeks to coordinate, maximize and enhance

         15  the resources that are accessible to all New York

         16  City emergency food programs.

         17                 We at HRA are committed to continuing

         18  to do what we can to ensure that individuals who

         19  need and are eligible for assistance receive the

         20  assistance.

         21                 We have taken important steps in this

         22  effort and are prepared to do more. We are willing

         23  to discuss with you further steps that can be taken.

         24                 For example, I know the Food Stamp

         25  application itself has raised concerns, and we've
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          2  already discussed those. As the Commissioner said,

          3  the State is conducting a pilot in Onondaga County

          4  involving a shortened form, and we await the results

          5  of that trial.

          6                 The Council should be aware, however,

          7  that while food stamp benefits are full federally

          8  funded, the costs of staff to administer the system

          9  are not.

         10                 New York City's cost for federal

         11  fiscal -- or for Fiscal Year 2002 were $237 million;

         12  however, it is important to note that each

         13  additional staff person hired will cost the City 62

         14  percent of their salary.

         15                 Further outreach plans need to be

         16  considered in light of the cost and the City's

         17  overall funding.

         18                 I'm prepared with Commissioner

         19  Eggleston to take questions.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you,

         21  Deputy Commissioner. And as we have joked before,

         22  you know, your previous testimony was two sentences

         23  or less, you've broken out of that pattern

         24  auspiciously here, this is very, very helpful

         25  testimony. I think it answers some of the questions
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          2  we would have had, so thank you.

          3                 Let me just say before a few quick

          4  questions, we 100 percent want to help in the

          5  outreach effort in any way we can, and I think it

          6  would be helpful if we could, whenever appropriate,

          7  set up a meeting with HRA to figure out how Council

          8  members can aggressively help you with that. I

          9  appreciate your own efforts to monitor your

         10  operations and improve them, and the fact that you,

         11  too, have used "undercover" folks to check that, and

         12  we appreciate that very much.

         13                 I want to ask you in a moment about

         14  the application situation, but I want to affirm, as

         15  you say, we understand that this is very much a

         16  problem from outside our borders.

         17                 Now, three quick types of questions

         18  here. The end of your testimony, look, this is a

         19  perfectly valid real world point, and we appreciate

         20  that nothing is entirely for free, but I do want to

         21  make sure I'm understanding correctly. Because of

         22  the cost of the actual subsidy is entirely federal,

         23  I take it you would agree that in general every

         24  additional person we can sign up is a financial net

         25  gain for the City of New York.
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          2                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

          3  DIAMOND: Well, anybody who we sign up who is

          4  eligible --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Who is

          6  eligible.

          7                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

          8  DIAMOND: -- For benefits, absolutely, that's a good

          9  thing. What we don't want, though, is that sometimes

         10  in some of the discussion on this issue people say

         11  perhaps with not knowing the full story, there's no

         12  problem, we should just do more, because everything

         13  is federal benefits, and, so, it's a total windfall

         14  for the City, not just the benefits but all the

         15  staff we add and everything else. We should just be

         16  conscious of the fact that while the benefits are

         17  fully federally funded and the people who get them

         18  are eligible is a good thing, to the extent that we

         19  add staff to develop programs and things like that,

         20  there is a City cost to those efforts.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay, that's

         22  entirely fair.

         23                 I would note that there have been

         24  other benefits, obviously starting with Medicaid,

         25  where the formula is less favorable to us
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          2  financially, so I guess what we've been saying, I

          3  think you're right, it could be misinterpreted, so

          4  it's good you're clarifying that this is the actual

          5  subsidy is 100 percent federal. That is a very good

          6  thing. And, so, I just want to be sure I'm clear.

          7  You are saying it is a net gain every time we sign

          8  someone up, before you even discuss the fact that it

          9  is better nutrition and hopefully means people might

         10  not need other services that the City has to

         11  provide, or other government agencies has to

         12  provide, but financially it's a net gain for the

         13  City to be bringing in the actual subsidy money.

         14                 But I think I understand you to mean

         15  that in a time where we're cutting all sorts of

         16  things that we consider fairly basic throughout City

         17  government, that we have to make a decision is it a

         18  sufficient net gain to favor the administrative

         19  costs of additional food stamp activity versus some

         20  other type of cost; is that a fair statement?

         21                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Well, I think

         22  we need to be careful how we say net gain. The

         23  reason being, I would absolutely 100 percent agree

         24  with you net gain, if, in fact, when the money came

         25  back in I had full freedom to allocate the money
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          2  specifically to HRA and use it the way that I wanted

          3  to. But we know that's not possible.

          4                 But I think the reason why I

          5  encourage us not to look at it in that particular

          6  paradigm, because our primary charge is to serve

          7  people. There's no weight and measures to that. You

          8  know, the bottom line is, my agency, no matter what

          9  happens I have a federal mandate, I have a local

         10  mandate, I have a legal mandate to serve people, I

         11  have to do that. So, I think it's two different

         12  discussions.

         13                 So, I don't think it would help us if

         14  we looked at it like, well, if we enhance the food

         15  stamp program we can bring in revenue to the City

         16  and then we can do other things, unless there's a

         17  commitment that with the increased revenue we bring

         18  into this City with the expansion of the food stamp

         19  program we're going to specifically designate this

         20  money to do human services. Then I'd be more than

         21  willing to have that conversation, you know. Then I

         22  could plug up all the holes of my staff shortages

         23  and I can get more services to people, but that's

         24  not the way it happens. The revenue will come in, is

         25  it coming to HRA. Is it going to social services?
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          2  Does the Council have a part in saying where that

          3  money shall be allocated? Is that a conversation in

          4  the budget hearings?

          5                 If, in fact, human services brings in

          6  revenue in this way, where are we putting it? What's

          7  our commitment to our investment in our New Yorkers,

          8  in regards to those New Yorkers who have needs, and

          9  that's the conversation I want to have.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I think we do

         11  want to have that, too, but I guess I don't want to

         12  be overly simplistic and I want to make sure that we

         13  could -- I think there may be some subtle

         14  differences here, I want to make sure we do

         15  understand each other.

         16                 Example. This is very round numbers,

         17  so just accept this for a moment. If 200,000 more

         18  people were signed up for food stamps in the next

         19  year, your cost, your current cost, would go up, if

         20  I'm doing my accounting right, something like $60

         21  million administratively. Looking at you're about

         22  240 now. So, if you went up 25 percent, another 60

         23  million. I think if I'm also doing the math right,

         24  the amount coming in, and I would have to admit my

         25  ignorance, I don't know what the exact amount would
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          2  be, what the average amount would be per family, but

          3  if we added 200,000 families, the immediate impact

          4  on nutrition, food in the family, again, hopefully

          5  some good multiplier effect impact, that people

          6  would not need other health or other services, but

          7  you'd also have the spending impact of this money

          8  coming into the community being spent in local

          9  stores, and that has its own multiplier impact.

         10                 So, I just want to make sure I'm

         11  clear on the narrow point. If that cost you $60

         12  million more to get 200,000 people on, is that a

         13  good governmental equation, even with the current

         14  problems that exist jurisdictionally?

         15                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         16  DIAMOND: I think that's what Commissioner Eggleston

         17  was trying to address. The concern is that while it

         18  sounds fine when we sit and talk about it here, the

         19  City Budget is a complex process, and it may bring

         20  in more money into the overall City budget but

         21  there's no guarantee that that may find its way to

         22  social services or to HRA, and, so, there is some

         23  concern that as we add more people we'll have a

         24  staffing issue that we'll have to address.

         25                 But I think the Commissioner's first
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          2  point was that we are prepared to meet the need of

          3  people, that's HRA's mission. We want to sign up all

          4  eligible people. I don't think there's any

          5  disagreement with the Council on that, I hope

          6  there's not, that we are together and on the same

          7  side that anyone who is eligible for food stamps

          8  should get it. We just do have to be mindful and not

          9  assume that all this is free money coming from

         10  Washington with no City administrative component.

         11  There is one, and there is one that needs to be

         12  taken into account and planned for in any expansion

         13  or outreach or other kinds of efforts that we agree

         14  to do.

         15                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: And the other

         16  consideration there is, you know, administrative,

         17  let's talk about the administrative proportion of

         18  that, and let's never forget that no matter how much

         19  federal revenue we bring in is there an

         20  administrative cost that the City of New York pays

         21  to the state. And, so, is all the money coming in

         22  from the feds to do our food stamp program, in fact,

         23  making its way to the City before it then makes its

         24  way to the various areas that's supposed to serve

         25  people.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Well, that's an

          3  extremely fair point, and we are always concerned,

          4  and you know that from some of our previous hearings

          5  with other agencies whether dollars that come in are

          6  earmarked actually go where they need to go, and we

          7  have some of our own issues with OMB on this.

          8                 But just a side question to make sure

          9  I'm clear: There's no question, is there, about the

         10  fact that when an eligible family gets food stamps

         11  that we are very satisfied with the track record of

         12  those food stamps actually having the intended

         13  effects, notwithstanding some unfortunate examples,

         14  but by and large we are satisfied that they have the

         15  desired affect; is that true as a matter of policy?

         16                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         17  DIAMOND: I absolutely agree. I mean, I'm so

         18  committed to this food stamp issue, as I said to the

         19  Council before when I testified, that you know

         20  myself and First Deputy Pat Smith, you know, we

         21  spend our weekends, because we don't have a life,

         22  going to make sure that the EBT card is being used

         23  correctly, and looking at ways in which we can

         24  support vendors in the community, you know, to not

         25  look at it that way. So, we tried our little

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            47

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  research on using an EBT card, but you still use it

          3  to buy beer, you know, you can still use it to buy

          4  non-food items, there's some vendors who have

          5  resources enough out there where they can use a cash

          6  register to figure out that it's not a food item.

          7  And we've come across those vendors.

          8                 We spoke with the state and we've

          9  asked the state, how can we on a state level look at

         10  ways of supporting those vendors to help them get

         11  that new technology so that they can do it, so that

         12  we won't distribute goods and services from a fraud

         13  perspective. You know, welfare in its own way, if

         14  you look at it historically, I'm not talking this

         15  administration or the last one, the distribution of

         16  benefits, there's probably more of an allocation of

         17  goods, services and human resources to find the

         18  fraud than to issue the service.

         19                 If our approach to welfare or welfare

         20  assistance or public assistance or helping the human

         21  kind is that we suspect that they're going to take

         22  us off, then all of our systems will be developed in

         23  that way. If we go into it, you know, like any

         24  business goes into it, where you can expect X amount

         25  of loss as a part of the business, you can get the
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          2  business done. So, yes, I believe that there is a

          3  greater proportion of people getting the food than

          4  fraud committed against the food stamp. Why do I

          5  believe that? Because I did it myself. I went out

          6  there with the cart, with my staff, went to the

          7  stores, bought beer, some vendors who didn't have

          8  the technology said absolutely not, I'm not going to

          9  put at risk you buying beer, I'm not going to let

         10  you buy cigarettes. Some sold cigarettes, some sold

         11  non-items, some sold brooms and mops - I don't ever

         12  think truly that we'll ever, ever get fully, you

         13  know, where there's 100 percent non-fraud.

         14                 My concern is that people get the

         15  food who need it and that we not spend so much time

         16  figuring out if people are defrauding the system,

         17  rather than getting them the food. So, I believe so,

         18  yes.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you. Very

         20  helpful answer.

         21                 Two more quickly. Again, this is

         22  literally to make sure we all understand each other.

         23                 So, this I understand is a state

         24  application, this long, long piece of paper. And I

         25  understand your desire, as ours, to simplify. Is
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          2  there any additional step that you can take until

          3  larger reform occurs, again, we will join you in any

          4  way we can to be helpful, is there any additional

          5  step you think you can take to streamline until that

          6  reform occurs?

          7                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Well, I think

          8  you have to do both simultaneously. That's for sure.

          9  And I have to tell you, I think the whole

         10  application package is cumbersome. And I've actually

         11  already started the process by asking that my staff

         12  look at those non-necessary documents, if you will,

         13  those that we can bypass. Our first task was to,

         14  again, ask the State to allow me some flexibility

         15  and presumptive eligibility. There are other states

         16  that do it. You know, somehow along the way we lost

         17  our rights to presumptive eligibility, where I can

         18  just assume that you're in need. Why would you --

         19  and I give this example everywhere I go. I give it

         20  to advocates, why would you spend $6 to get $12

         21  worth of food stamps? I mean, really, why would you

         22  spend $6 in car fare to fool me to get $12 worth of

         23  food stamps? Because it's not like I'm giving you

         24  1,200. You know, immediate need is, what, 18 bucks?

         25  I mean, yes, to that neighborhood person who is
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          2  addicted to crack, 18 bucks, yes, could probably

          3  make sense because I could sell that and do all

          4  kinds of things - but why would I put you through

          5  that?

          6                 So, presumptive eligibility, as I beg

          7  the state, is a necessary thing for me to do, given

          8  all the crisis that New York City faces right now.

          9                 I mean, I think, you know, my staff

         10  is going to look at streamlining it, there's some

         11  operational things that we're looking at, like we're

         12  looking at express lanes in our centers, I spend a

         13  great deal of time in the centers, but there's some

         14  activity that doesn't require that you should be

         15  there all day.

         16                 Automation in the middle of this

         17  tough fiscal time, I'm encouraging, you know,

         18  please, please, please let me keep the automated

         19  items in my budget, because, you know, here we're

         20  halfway through this stuff, automation of records so

         21  that I don't have to lose time with the client

         22  bringing back proof, and birth certificates an this

         23  kind of thing, we could have it there.

         24                 Having a quick service customer

         25  relations person, putting that back in my headcount,
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          2  where the person meets the client at the door, they

          3  don't have to wait for their caseworker. The

          4  caseworker is not there. You know, people are out

          5  sick, for Christ sakes, we have to take that into

          6  account. I'm a worker, I make you an appointment on

          7  Friday, Monday I get sick, I have the flu, I'm not

          8  there. You're there. You took off a day from

          9  whatever, God forbid you're an elderly or a frail

         10  person, you've made your way, your home attendant,

         11  look how many systems we've impacted. How can I

         12  somehow or another meet you where you are and do

         13  some kind of quick service kinds of things?

         14                 So, all of these things right now in

         15  the here and the now we're looking at how we can

         16  consider them, in the midst of a budget cut, in the

         17  midst of staff shortages, in the midst of hiring

         18  freezes, and, you know what? In order to get to

         19  these things, I can tell you right now, sir, I'm

         20  going to be back before you answer into why I had to

         21  take away a center in your community, or one of you

         22  Council members, and I'm going answer right now in

         23  the here and the now so we can get to it quick and

         24  save us all time - I had to close it in order to

         25  meet a greater good. And that might be the result.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Well, again, we

          3  hope to work with you to make sure that isn't the

          4  result, and to be allies, and we will look forward

          5  to following up right after this and doing some of

          6  that.

          7                 One last question from me, I know we

          8  have a couple of colleagues who have questions as

          9  well. Looking at some of the concerns raised by

         10  USDA, and, again, looking at them as things we need

         11  to all work on together, I think two particular

         12  items jump off the page to me, and one is the

         13  dynamic of an individual or a family being rejected

         14  for public assistance for whatever reason, but still

         15  being eligible for food stamps, and ensuring that in

         16  that sort of one thing going in one direction, the

         17  other thing going in the opposite direction, that

         18  that family or that individual does not lose the

         19  food stamps inadvertently, and I think, if I

         20  understand the USDA study, and my interpretation of

         21  it is accurate, we still have a problem that we have

         22  to address in this matter.

         23                 And secondly, similar, people leaving

         24  welfare, hopefully for good, but still eligible for

         25  food stamps, again going two trends in opposite
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          2  directions in a sense, and people flipping between

          3  the cracks in significant numbers because of that

          4  dichotomy; can you speak to what we're doing to try

          5  and address the concerns you raised by the USDA?

          6                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: In a general

          7  way I wouldn't, except to get even more concrete and

          8  specific. You know, generally in my opening

          9  statement I talked about philosophical minds that

         10  change, it being food stamps being used in

         11  relationship to welfare reform as the carrot and the

         12  stick. There needs to be a clear separation. One has

         13  no relationship to the other one. But the clients

         14  still have their same mindset. There are many

         15  clients who still have the mindset - if I'm entitled

         16  to this, I'm entitled to this. You know, once we do

         17  your eligibility review, and you might not be

         18  entitled to a full grant, but you are still

         19  eligible, so there's entitlement and eligibility and

         20  assistance. And, so, we've kind of at HRA, in order

         21  to get the staff to start thinking about it

         22  differently, when I arrived I had to just stop the

         23  process and say you know what, there are a couple of

         24  things going on that we're doing - we're doing an

         25  entitlement, assistance and benefits. Concretely we
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          2  started doing that by focusing in on the seniors.

          3  There were 9,500 seniors on my roles when I arrived.

          4  Not acceptable to me. No way in the City of New York

          5  should senior citizens be sitting on welfare. You

          6  know, so there might have been a senior there who

          7  might have needed food stamps, there might have been

          8  a senior there who might have needed Medicaid, or

          9  needed to move to their social security, or a

         10  veteran who had a veteran check, might have been

         11  mentally ill, might have required food stamps - so

         12  we had to tease out the entire roster of clients,

         13  looking at the 425,000 left as individuals, or the

         14  479,000 left as individuals. And conceptually, to

         15  think to look at clients individually, 479,000 of

         16  them opening up a case one-by-one, and getting the

         17  intricacy, but that's how committed we are, if not

         18  for nothing else, to find the good in the service.

         19                 Is it going to be done overnight?

         20  Absolutely not, sir. I can commit to you overnight

         21  if I fast track and look at everybody the same. It

         22  wouldn't serve the clients. So, in this process of

         23  looking at clients separately, and coming up with

         24  separate determinations for each is going to help us

         25  get to that end. It's going to be some long work.
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          2  There's some progress that's coming. Very satisfied

          3  with it. Very satisfied in the number of seniors

          4  we've moved off our rolls, very satisfied in the

          5  number of seniors we moved into subsidized jobs so

          6  that they can get their quarter so that they can be

          7  entitled to their benefits. So, it's not just one

          8  simple thing.

          9                 I wish I could come into this Chamber

         10  and just talk to you about food stamps - it's

         11  impossible. It's about someone's entitlement benefit

         12  or assistant that they need in order to be

         13  self-sufficient, and self-sufficiency on all levels.

         14                 I mean, we've lived in the time, all

         15  of us, those who don't want to age ourselves, you

         16  don't have to, where we heard horrible stories of

         17  seniors eating, you know, cat food. Are there still

         18  seniors in New York City eating cat food?

         19  Absolutely. But it's a greater concern and it has to

         20  be broad stroke and it has to be interagency and it

         21  has to be an interagency approach. It's not about

         22  how HRA does the outreach for those seniors, but how

         23  the City Council members open up their doors and let

         24  us put pamphlets and brochures in their offices so

         25  that any senior who comes, you know, who do we make
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          2  it a part of everybody's voicemail, you know, that

          3  you have this availability? And clients begin to

          4  understand the difference between full benefit,

          5  grant hold, everything, rent, the whole nine yards,

          6  and food stamps. How do we educate the public? So,

          7  it's a larger job. It's not that simple. It's not a

          8  onesy twosey. I wish it was, but it's not.

          9                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         10  DIAMOND: You have raised correctly that the food

         11  stamp separate determination process is one of the

         12  things that we know we have to work on, and we have

         13  two parts to it.

         14                 For cases that have been closed,

         15  where they already had been receiving cash

         16  assistance, where we have been trying for a long

         17  period of time, the City has been advocating for at

         18  least a decade and perhaps longer for the State to

         19  be able to make changes in their computer system so

         20  that people can automatically transition from cash

         21  assistance and food stamps to food stamps only.

         22                 Some of those changes are just now

         23  coming into place, and now for many of the people

         24  whose case is closed who are eligible for food

         25  stamps, they will receive them automatically for a
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          2  period of time. It was three months, in October it

          3  went to five months. The state is doing a separate

          4  process that will allow more and more people who are

          5  food stamp eligible to continue to receive the food

          6  stamps after their cash assistance closes over the

          7  next several months. There will be even more people

          8  who automatically go from receiving food stamps and

          9  cash assistance than just receiving food stamps.

         10                 For people whose cases are rejected,

         11  they have applied for public assistance and they're

         12  found not eligible for public assistance, there we

         13  have to do more monitoring of the effort to make

         14  sure that application is properly transferred to the

         15  food stamp program.

         16                 We used to have a similar program

         17  with medical insurance, and we did a tremendous

         18  amount of work developing a separate computer system

         19  to monitor applications as they move from applying

         20  for cash assistance and food stamps, to applying

         21  just for medical insurance. We developed a separate

         22  unit to track that application process, and that

         23  worked extremely well in allowing people who are

         24  interested in applying just for medical insurance,

         25  but who were denied access, or rejected for whatever
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          2  reason for cash assistance, making sure that

          3  application went through on the medical assistance

          4  side.

          5                 We're looking to replicate that

          6  process on the food stamp side, to see if we can get

          7  those numbers similarly addressed in a way that will

          8  make sure that people who want food stamps get them.

          9  Those are the kinds of things that are in our

         10  response to the USDA audit, and those are the kinds

         11  of things we're working on right now.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I'm going to

         13  call on Council Member Bill Perkins.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: With all due

         15  respect, Mr. Chairman, thank you, but I'd like to

         16  yield to the Chairman of the --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Absolutely.

         18  Fine.

         19                 Council Member Eric Gioia.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Thank you,

         21  both, for your testimony.

         22                 Commissioner, thank you for your

         23  commitment to the agency and to the City. I just

         24  want to make a couple of brief points and ask a

         25  couple of questions.
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          2                 For the record, I'd like to

          3  acknowledge that we made available to you a

          4  preliminary draft document of our findings. Again,

          5  it was an internal preliminary draft document, which

          6  I believe we actually marked up ourselves to

          7  identify typos and grammatical errors. And that is

          8  what you handed back to me. I don't know if you had

          9  an opportunity to view the public document with the

         10  corrected version on it, but I wanted to make it

         11  clear that we made available to you a preliminary

         12  draft internal document as a courtesy to you and

         13  that we did not release a document that had either

         14  typos or grammatical errors in it.

         15                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Thank you.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: And just to be

         17  clear, you don't fault the methodology of our

         18  investigation, do you?

         19                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Absolutely

         20  not.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Thank you.

         22                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: I never enter

         23  my centers incognito. I go and I say I'm the

         24  Commissioner of HRA and show my badge and

         25  identification and they say who? And I wait for five
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          2  people to come down and clear me.

          3                 So, oh, absolutely not, sir. I mean,

          4  I'm encouraged by the fact that you got in, it means

          5  that we're making progress. That's a very good

          6  thing, that the mindset is changing.

          7                 I said to your chair, I'm encouraged

          8  by any feedback. I welcome, absolutely welcome it. I

          9  gave that back to you, because while that, and I

         10  appreciate it, the tool was not necessarily helpful

         11  to me. And, so, it's more process than content.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Fair enough.

         13                 My job, I chair Oversight and

         14  Investigations, and the challenge is I'm often in

         15  the position where it could be being throwing stones

         16  at folks, but I don't want this to be the case

         17  because I do believe we are on the same page and the

         18  same goal, and I commend you on some of the

         19  initiatives you've taken there, to make the agency a

         20  more customer-friendly agency, particularly with

         21  food stamps. I think that it has to be really

         22  customer-based, as if you were going in to buy a

         23  product, really trying to sell this to folks because

         24  of what we talked about in the federal dollars. Can

         25  you think, or do you have any other suggestions of
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          2  how we can help you do your job easier? And you tell

          3  me, how many people do you believe are in New York

          4  who qualify for food stamps who are not currently

          5  applying?

          6                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

          7  DIAMOND: We don't have a specific number, but,

          8  again, our position is that anyone who is eligible,

          9  who is interested in applying, should be able to

         10  receive food stamps, and we want to make sure they

         11  know about the availability of food stamps and help

         12  them apply. I think where you can be helpful is

         13  making sure that word gets out, that people are

         14  directed, that people understand what applying for

         15  food stamps entails, that it is different than cash

         16  assistance, some people may be afraid, as

         17  Commissioner Eggleston said. In a lot of people's

         18  minds, food stamps and cash assistance are still

         19  very closely linked. They may not realize that you

         20  can apply only for food stamps and that it's a

         21  different application process, and even different

         22  offices that you go to. I think helping to get that

         23  message out can be very helpful, and then helping to

         24  be our advocate for things like simplification, for

         25  things like making sure every immigrant continues to
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          2  be able to receive food stamps, that there's full

          3  restoration. All those kinds of things were on the

          4  same page and we want to work with you.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Thank you. But

          6  you would agree that they're well over half a

          7  million people who live in New York who qualify for

          8  food stamps who do not apply?

          9                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         10  DIAMOND: I don't know what the number is, but I do

         11  know that there was a USDA study that came out in

         12  June that looked at food stamp usage throughout the

         13  country, and that New York State was above the

         14  average. I think the average nationally was 57

         15  percent and that New York State was at 62 percent.

         16  So, I'm not sure what the actual number is, and

         17  there's still room to do better, absolutely, but I

         18  do think that we are doing better than most places.

         19  I know Texas has been held up as a model in some

         20  places, they were below 50 percent in the USDA

         21  study. So, I think New York State has come a long

         22  way. There's still more ground to go, but I don't

         23  think that it's right to say that the picture is not

         24  moving in the right direction.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: I don't mean to
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          2  say that at all. I think we can all agree that we

          3  can do better. However many people out there don't

          4  have food stamps, do you have any ideas on how we

          5  can have a marketing campaign to educate those

          6  people to apply?

          7                 In other words, how do we get the

          8  word out to those who aren't applying?

          9                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: I wish I

         10  could add to my resume marketing, but unfortunately,

         11  it doesn't come to me again as one idea, or one

         12  agency. I think it has to be an across the board

         13  everybody in. I think that every one of us who do

         14  human services, and there are some collaborations

         15  that exist currently at HRA, and we do work with DHS

         16  and do work with ACS, I think that every time we

         17  meet a client, a family, an individual, that's our

         18  opportunity to let them know what they're entitled

         19  to.

         20                 I think first here in New York City

         21  we have to embrace food stamps, or food issuance, as

         22  an entitlement first, as opposed to a benefit.

         23                 I think if we can change -- or

         24  assistance. I think if we can just change our

         25  mindset, we can outreach to people. You know, any
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          2  time we come in contact with folks say did you know

          3  you was entitled to get some food help if you needed

          4  it? But it begins with us. It begins with us, that's

          5  the biggest marketing tool. It begins with the folk

          6  who serve the people, changing their mindset to

          7  understand that everybody's entitled to food stamps

          8  when eligible. And if we can just start there we'll

          9  start telling everybody everywhere. I mean, you

         10  know, we're involved in a faith-based initiative at

         11  HRA. We have pastors, a few churches, working with

         12  us to keep folk in the world of work. A very

         13  successful program. You know, every opportunity we

         14  get we encourage the pastors from your pulpit it's

         15  important to say, you know - great marketing tool.

         16  They capture a lot of people. So, I think every

         17  single one of us probably have an idea or two.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Thank you. I

         19  have no further questions, Mr. Chair.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you.

         21                 Council Member Bill Perkins.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Thank you,

         23  Mr. Chairman.

         24                 Let me first start by extending a

         25  public appreciation to our colleague Chairman Gioia
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          2  for this extraordinary report that he has provided

          3  this Committee, and I would dare say the City

          4  Administration as it relates to how we can do better

          5  on this issue. And, you know, I think this

          6  represents a very significant direction in this new

          7  Council that will help the public get their dollar's

          8  worth in terms of government, especially at this

          9  time of fiscal crisis.

         10                 The Chairman indicated some

         11  methodology of questions that the Commissioner

         12  seemed to have agreed to. I'm now wondering with

         13  regard to the findings represented in this report

         14  what was the Commissioner's appreciation of the

         15  findings that ultimately represented areas of

         16  improvement or the areas of concern?

         17                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: I think I

         18  have many feelings, you know, and we could probably

         19  sit here and view them all day. You know, my staff

         20  would say to you, you know, as I presented to my

         21  staff and we talked about it extensively, and we

         22  didn't talk about it just because we were coming to

         23  testify at the hearings, but any time we get public

         24  feedback our process is to discuss it and all

         25  leadership teams so that we can apply it very
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          2  quickly.

          3                 Now, I mean, you know, if you spoke

          4  to some of my staff, some of my staff might say to

          5  you, well, it depends on the way they ask the

          6  question. I mean, you know, we could hold to that,

          7  but, you know, is it necessary?

          8                 You know, in other words, sir, when

          9  the person came in to ask for the application, did

         10  they say that I'm looking for an application for

         11  food stamps only? You know, does it matter really,

         12  you know, is my feeling as the Commissioner.

         13                 Did the person come looking for help,

         14  and did we do our work to outreach them and find out

         15  what help they needed? And that's my question on the

         16  flipside of your coin.

         17                 So, helpful as a tool, absolutely.

         18  Confirmation for me that the work needs to go on. I

         19  still have to stay grounded in our success. And, no,

         20  Mr. DeBlasio, I don't think it's about me but

         21  grounded in our success. Anybody who is familiar

         22  with HRA at all, the tremendous size of HRA, any

         23  change that can occur and at this level in this fast

         24  speed of time is good change. Because it doesn't

         25  turn on a dime, the organization is too big.
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          2                 So, yes, I think the findings are

          3  helpful. I think some of them are usable. I think

          4  some of them were far past them already. I think

          5  some of them are in the planning stages. We can go

          6  item to item, but it's not going to be helpful.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: I appreciate

          8  the positive embracing of the report that you're

          9  sharing. It's a C change in many respects by

         10  comparison to your predecessor, and I know Mr.

         11  Diamond, you're sort of the bridge between the two

         12  administrations, and I'd like to explore some

         13  questions with you related to that, however.

         14                 For instance, I just want to be

         15  clear, it pointed out some problems with addresses

         16  listed on the website as being incorrect. Those are

         17  not like sort of subjective matters.

         18                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: They've

         19  already been corrected, sir.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: They've been

         21  corrected, okay.

         22                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: And that's

         23  like one of those welcome things.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay, great.

         25                 There were similar findings of that
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          2  type, and I assume, of those that were sort of

          3  objective, like in terms of addresses, those were

          4  corrected; is that correct? All of those were

          5  corrected?

          6                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: That's

          7  correct, sir.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay.

          9                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: And it

         10  depends when the inquiry was done. That's what I was

         11  saying. You know, my staff would sit and argue with

         12  you, well, it depends on when they made the inquiry.

         13  It doesn't matter, it was wrong whenever they came,

         14  and, so, it was corrected.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay.

         16                 Well, just for the record, this was

         17  done between November 25th and December 2nd, so that

         18  was 14 days ago, two weeks ago.

         19                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: That's

         20  correct.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: So, for

         22  instance, there were 20 centers listed on the

         23  website of those, they were unable to visit three

         24  because of incorrect listings. They examined the

         25  remaining 17, during those visits they were unable
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          2  to obtain a full stamp application in nine or 53

          3  percent of the time.

          4                 So, that's a lot. At least it sounds

          5  like a lot when you talk about 53 percent. I would

          6  hope that there would be some sort of objective

          7  confirmation of that, and that that's a simple

          8  problem that can be remedied, get some applications

          9  to them.

         10                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Oh, I agree.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Has that been

         12  done, or will that be done?

         13                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: We're doing

         14  it as we speak, sir. We're taking your citings very

         15  seriously and transform them into corrective actions

         16  immediately.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay.

         18                 The Commissioner, you know, the prior

         19  Administration, from my subjective point of view

         20  perhaps, had a very strong race and class bias, and

         21  bragged about numbers going down for public

         22  assistance and food stamp applications. In fact,

         23  their whole approach to this was quite the opposite

         24  from what we're hearing today.

         25                 That is to say, today it sounds as if
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          2  you're sort of recognizing the responsibility of

          3  providing this service, and looking for marketing

          4  techniques, including the support of the Council, to

          5  reaching out and getting people in who applied that

          6  may be eligible.

          7                 The other Administration seemed to

          8  take quite the opposite approach and would come here

          9  and talk about how the numbers dropped and would

         10  basically brag about that, and would resist all of

         11  these concerns about, you know, traps and obstacles

         12  that were in the application.

         13                 In other words, for instance, this

         14  Chairman is six feet four and the application is

         15  almost as tall as him. And they would, instead of

         16  saying like you, we'd like to refine it to a page,

         17  they would like to say we want to add a few more

         18  pages to it; you understand the point I'm saying?

         19                 So, I just want to commend you for

         20  that public C change in posture, because I think

         21  that's important and that's what this Committee has

         22  been trying to help the various Administrations

         23  understand in support of the citizens of New York,

         24  whether they are poor, or whether they're

         25  billionaires. So, I just wanted to make sure that I
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          2  said that on the record.

          3                 I want to ask a question, however,

          4  about your own investigations as were cited in this

          5  report, Commissioner Diamond. Share a little with us

          6  about these investigators that you have going out.

          7  When did you start these investigations? Give us

          8  some appreciation of what you're actually doing?

          9                 And the reason I raise this is

         10  because, again, you're investigating your staff to

         11  make sure that they're doing their job, is what

         12  you're saying, and that was never the case in the

         13  past. Or maybe it was but it was a secret. So, maybe

         14  you can help me understand the history of that, and

         15  more or less exactly what your findings are by

         16  comparison to the findings of our Investigations

         17  Committee and your sort of corrective measure that

         18  you might be taking.

         19                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         20  DIAMOND: The investigations that we do have been

         21  going on I think for about two or three years, and

         22  involve undercover employees going to offices

         23  throughout the City, typically late in the day,

         24  although they go typically any time during the day.

         25  They can go any time during the day but we try and
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          2  emphasize later in the day, to make sure people can

          3  be served whenever they arrive.

          4                 And they ask for an application, and

          5  they also ask if they will be seen that day. And our

          6  goal is to make sure that, yes, they can receive an

          7  application, and that, yes, they are told that they

          8  will be seen that day. Even if they walk in at five

          9  minutes to closing time, they'll be told that they

         10  can be seen so they can be evaluated and any

         11  emergency situations exist.

         12                 In the overwhelming number of cases

         13  people are told that correctly. If we detect a

         14  pattern of cases where people are not either in a

         15  particular office or people presenting a particular

         16  kind of situation where we find that the workers

         17  aren't clear, that people need to be seen, we

         18  address that immediately. Sometimes it takes

         19  disciplinary action against the worker, sometimes it

         20  might require further training, but it provides very

         21  good and constant feedback to us as to what the

         22  situation is. And people go to every office that we

         23  have, we rotate the employees so that the staff does

         24  not get used to seeing the same person going through

         25  the process, and we use temporary employees so they
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          2  don't feel like there was an issue of testifying

          3  against a fellow civil servant.

          4                 So, we try and do what we can to make

          5  sure that the process works. There is written

          6  summation of each visit that we use, if necessary,

          7  for a disciplinary process, and to keep a record of

          8  when the offices are visited, and how frequently and

          9  those kinds of things, and it's an ongoing process.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Okay.

         11                 Mr. Chairman, I don't want to dwell

         12  on this, but I think it's very, very important,

         13  especially, you know, in terms of how this operation

         14  is being managed, and I would appreciate if you

         15  would make sure that the Committee gets some sort of

         16  detailed, you know, how many people have been -- how

         17  many investigations have taken place, how many

         18  individuals or instances have been identified where

         19  these infractions took place, so on and so forth,

         20  when did this type of investigation begin. I don't

         21  want to do anything that steps on confidentiality

         22  and stuff of that nature, but I think from the

         23  perspective of a management report, from the

         24  perspective of the Mayor's Management Report,

         25  particularly in instances like this, you know, for
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          2  the sake of those who may have been the victims of

          3  these infractions, and furthermore, to let the world

          4  know how serious you are about getting people who

          5  are eligible involved and dispel the prior notion

          6  that was out there in the public, it would be

          7  helpful for us to be able to have those type of

          8  detailed reports as soon as possible.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 One final question, Mr. Chairman. I

         11  know I'm overwhelming a little bit --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Quickly,

         13  please.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: The $237

         15  million that it's costing administratively to

         16  administer the system, I think that's on your last

         17  -- what does that number represent? Is that staff?

         18                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         19  DIAMOND: It's a combination of staff and building,

         20  you know, facility costs.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Would you

         22  break that down, if you don't mind at some point, so

         23  we can see that for real?

         24                 In addition to giving us some sort of

         25  comparative understanding as to is that number,
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          2  since our report indicates that there's 800,000

          3  people out there, what does the number per capita

          4  sort of represent, so we can get a sense of if we

          5  bring those 800,000 on-line, what would that impact

          6  budgetarily? And if since 1995 the number has

          7  dramatically dropped by 65 percent, what does that

          8  mean? Do you understand? So we can get a handle on

          9  what this $237 million truly is.

         10                 Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.

         11                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Sir, I just

         12  need to say that I need to, before we make a

         13  commitment about the investigation that we do

         14  internally, understand all the aspects of me

         15  disclosing to the Council my investigations on my

         16  employees' misconduct or disciplinary actions before

         17  I make it a public report.

         18                 But let me find out. I'm not going to

         19  say absolutely emphatically no, but I want to say to

         20  you, sir, that I need to find out all the

         21  ramifications.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: We appreciate

         23  that, and I'll just say a simple summary, as

         24  non-confidential as necessary, would be appreciated.

         25                 Now, the 237 million, that separate

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            76

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  issue, obviously that's a matter of public record,

          3  some kind of break-out would be helpful.

          4                 Council Member Kendall Stewart.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Thank you,

          6  Mr. Chair.

          7                 Commissioner, I have in my hand here

          8  what appears to be a copy of the application that

          9  one has to fill out for temporary assistance,

         10  medical assistance, food stamps, benefit services,

         11  foster care, child care assistance, et cetera. Is

         12  this the only form that is being used basically?

         13                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         14  DIAMOND: There's two different applications that are

         15  in use. The one you have I think is the one that's

         16  in use in the food stamp offices. In the job centers

         17  where you apply for a combined food stamps, medical

         18  assistance and cash assistance, there's something

         19  called "the application job profile," that is a

         20  similar document. It asks somewhat different

         21  questions.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: About the

         23  same length?

         24                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         25  DIAMOND: The same length?
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Yes.

          3                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

          4  DIAMOND: It's a similar length. It's a

          5  City-developed form. Again, that is the one that's

          6  in multiple languages also.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: All right.

          8                 On average, how long do you think it

          9  will take for this form to be filled out?

         10                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: That depends

         11  on a lot of variables, sir. The one we begin with,

         12  if the client can read or write. The second one is

         13  if the client can read or write English. That's why

         14  HRA, or the City of New York, took it at our own

         15  cost, no reimbursement from the state --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: You've got to

         17  learn speed writing, huh?

         18                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: No, to get it

         19  transposed into something that was client-friendly.

         20  Again, be reminded that's the state form.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: I understand

         22  that. Even if it's a state form, don't you think it

         23  would be wiser if you can, because it's your office

         24  you can highlight the main areas, the main

         25  information, in most cases, the person might have to
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          2  come a second time, but let's say, for example, you

          3  give an example of someone coming in at 5:00 in the

          4  evening, and they might be an emergency case, are

          5  you going to say, well, listen, spend -- you can't

          6  spend two hours to fill out a form, the person may

          7  have to come back, but you may want to get the basic

          8  information there and then, which it would be much

          9  shorter than this. And that person might be

         10  entitled, from that basic information might be

         11  entitled to some sort of assistance.

         12                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: You're

         13  absolutely right. And, again, as I said earlier, I

         14  would love to have that, and I could do that. I

         15  would do it at the risk of being sanctioned. I'd do

         16  that at the risk of being sanctioned. I'd do that at

         17  the risk of the State Department of Social Services

         18  coming in and looking at my applications and

         19  sanctioning me for their not being complete. I'd do

         20  that at the risk of losing City dollars because my

         21  applications aren't complete. I'd do that at the

         22  risk of committing fraud because I have the legal

         23  responsibility to make sure that all information is

         24  gathered before benefit or assistance is given. So I

         25  do that at a risk. I think that the only persons or
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          2  person who can, given this current construct, who

          3  can give me the authority to bypass that system in

          4  this configuration would be the state who can say to

          5  me, Commissioner, you don't have to capture A

          6  through Z; however, in an emergency situation, if

          7  it's an emergency, I have the right under my

          8  jurisdiction within my discretion to issue

          9  assistance with little or less information using my

         10  own discretion because my staff I have been

         11  authorized to deem it as an emergency, but that

         12  would only be in an emergency situation, not an

         13  ongoing needs, and that's the tricky part, and

         14  that's the importance of us having a greater

         15  control.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Yes, I

         17  understand you're doing it at a risk, but when you

         18  look at this form, under no circumstance would you

         19  be able to fill out a form the same time, the first

         20  time and fill it out completely the first time, and

         21  I would say 100 percent of the time the person will

         22  have to bring other information and so on.

         23                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Absolutely.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: So,

         25  therefore, all I'm saying is that it might be the
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          2  prudent thing to get, for example, you get the basic

          3  biographicals and things like that, and you get

          4  signature, et cetera, all those things that you know

          5  that you can get right there and then, and from

          6  another form that you may be dealing with.

          7                 If you want to use this form, then

          8  you highlight what the basic areas that you may want

          9  to at least get that day, instead of trying to get

         10  everything that day. Because if you try to get

         11  everything that day, you will not, and the person

         12  may have to come back and come back for a week, two

         13  weeks, and I see that as one of the problems why we

         14  are not serving more people, and why so many people

         15  are being rejected because when you see that they

         16  have to go through so much, they are scared.

         17                 You know, if I was eligible for food

         18  stamps and I come from the office and I see you

         19  filling out this form, I would be very much scared

         20  the first time. I would figure that you're looking

         21  for more information about me than anything else.

         22                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: And that's

         23  the problem.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Yes.

         25                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: That's the
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          2  real problem, the concern.

          3                 You know, the example that I gave,

          4  you know, it would be like you and I, we're not too

          5  different, and let's be clear about that, in tax

          6  time I would be more likely to go to H&R Block than

          7  a federal income tax office. Bottom line. I would be

          8  more ready to go to H&R Block and ask them to give

          9  me assistance on line item whatever before I go into

         10  the federal office and ask them about, or the state

         11  office, for that matter.

         12                 Why? Because there's some level of

         13  distrust around government, the government knowing

         14  what we know and getting in all our business, and

         15  we're not even applying for assistance. We're just

         16  trying to get what belongs to us, okay?

         17                 Given that, it does not mean that I

         18  am not responsible to remove the obstacles or the

         19  barriers that keep my client from being served. So,

         20  as I mentioned earlier on, I asked the State for

         21  waivers around this. You know, Onondaga County has a

         22  pilot going on, we wish we can start that pilot

         23  here. You're absolutely right, sir, that's one piece

         24  of the application. You should see the total

         25  application.
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          2                 I went in the center, I asked for the

          3  total application. I mean, you can get carpal tunnel

          4  syndrome. It's weighty. It weighs about 15, 20

          5  pounds. It's antiquated. It's based on the fact that

          6  someone is going to fraud the system. That's the

          7  mindset, and, so, I'm right with you. I'm with the

          8  Council. If I can transform it into a one page, I'd

          9  do it today. I'm telling you.

         10                 At best, in the meantime until the

         11  state waves me from that, inside my centers I'm

         12  going to try to do fast lane stuff,  you know,

         13  similar to what you're suggesting - you know, get

         14  folks focused on those things. And if you go to some

         15  centers, I mean other centers where it's almost like

         16  two operations going on at one time. The best way to

         17  really understand this work, and this is not to be

         18  crass at all, is to actually take the application.

         19  And you'll find that no matter how much we simplify

         20  it, even if we get to one page, our clients are

         21  still going to have obstacles. You understand what

         22  I'm saying?

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you,

         25  Council Member Stewart.
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          2                 Council Member Larry Seabrook.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Thank you,

          4  Mr. Chairman.

          5                 Commissioner, just a couple of brief

          6  questions. One is that we're dealing with people,

          7  and I'm glad you used the word "the entitlement,"

          8  but we've criminalized almost being poor in America

          9  and being hungry is a criminal act, and it's

         10  associated with that. And, so, our communities, and

         11  the people within our communities and our folk in

         12  particular, look at it and people have made it

         13  something shameful to be poor and to be hungry, and

         14  the administers of poverty have actually created an

         15  atmosphere of criminality around it with all this

         16  bureaucratic red tape to feed folk.

         17                 And you raise the issue about the

         18  marketing. We got 51 people who market pretty well,

         19  they got elected to office. So, people come to those

         20  offices for all those kinds of service, the

         21  Commissioner of Youth Services Division for

         22  Community and Youth Services, I put the challenge to

         23  her about immigration, I have a large population of

         24  those who want to be citizens. They didn't have

         25  space so they used the office now and it's made
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          2  available to them, and people are there in droves

          3  because it has a comfort level, they don't go where

          4  everybody know their business, and they don't have

          5  to be ashamed of it, and then the people who come

          6  have a relationship with the community and so it's

          7  not going to apply for food stamps to eat, it is

          8  almost as if you are in the Police Department trying

          9  not to be arrested. And I've experienced it in the

         10  facilities, and hopefully you're changing a lot of

         11  that. But that's the criminality aspect of how

         12  people are treated.

         13                 I would hope that we can have some of

         14  the local community-based groups to even do some, a

         15  relationship could be established to do some

         16  pre-screening, and liaisons that would allow that to

         17  happen with your agency, community groups, our

         18  offices, so that we can expedite this for people

         19  having the right to eat in the richest country in

         20  the world, and not to look as if it's a crime to be

         21  poor and hungry in this City.

         22                 And, so, I would hope that you can

         23  look at that and see some ways of dealing with this,

         24  because, you know, I wouldn't know where to tell

         25  someone to go in my community right now to get food
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          2  stamps, and people are very proud people, and they

          3  think it's relief. They don't even call it that in

          4  Onondaga County. They got a different terminology.

          5  "Welfare" it's called here, it's called "home

          6  relief" up the way. So, I'm saying that we gotta let

          7  people know and how do we do that, and I'm certain

          8  that you might not have that marketing degree, but

          9  you got that human quality about you and that

         10  courageousness that would allow you to make some

         11  bold steps.

         12                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: I thank you,

         13  sir. That would last as long as the shelf life as a

         14  Commissioner does in this City, so I appreciate

         15  that.

         16                 Let me just say I think you're a

         17  scholar in your comments. I mean, I say that

         18  honestly, because when I say to this Council that I

         19  want to regain control over my jurisdiction, that is

         20  a perfect example, because in my authority, if I

         21  didn't have to ask the state for a waiver, or ask

         22  the state for approval, in my authority as

         23  Commissioner, I should be able to deputize

         24  community-based leadership, executive directors, I

         25  should be able to deputize other agency heads and
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          2  say you are hereby deputized to do a preapplication

          3  procedure, so that when HRA receives that

          4  application, you've already done the eligibility

          5  determination and we could do the processing.

          6                 Somewhere along the line in giving up

          7  our authority, we gave that up. That's a concrete

          8  example. So, when I say to you, that's one of the

          9  things we want back, that's one of the things we

         10  want back.

         11                 In tough fiscal times, budget cuts,

         12  staff shortages, you want to be able to field this

         13  back out into the community. People will more

         14  readily go into those community-based agencies than

         15  they will come into my center, because whether

         16  there's a compassionate commissioner there now and

         17  she knows the work or whatever, they still have too

         18  much institutionalized history. They remember, and

         19  they remember deeply. They remember the last worker

         20  that didn't help them. They remember the last worker

         21  that was mean to them. They remember the last worker

         22  that sent them to 20 locations. But if they have a

         23  relationship with that community-based organization

         24  where they go everyday to get other goods and

         25  services for their kids and their family, and that
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          2  organization's leadership person can be deputized,

          3  under the authority of the social services law to do

          4  a pre-op -- do you understand what I'm saying? Then

          5  we're working collaboratively.

          6                 So, there's wisdom connected to that,

          7  and it's not so far flung, it's not so off to a

          8  distance, and it's not not doable. We can do that.

          9  That's an easier thing. But it's going to take this

         10  Council and HRA, and, you know, everybody to say,

         11  you know, here's our legislative stuff, here's our

         12  list, come on, state, work with us, we're in tough

         13  times, these are the kind of things you can help us

         14  with, but that's the kind of stuff I'm talking

         15  about.

         16                 And further, churches, as I mentioned

         17  earlier, we work with pastors and faith-based

         18  initiative, and we think that they're very effective

         19  in our work, because the people are always going to

         20  go to the pastor for counsel, before they'll go to

         21  the social worker. They'll go tell the pastor all

         22  the sins.

         23                 Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you very

         25  much, Council Member.
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          2                 And Commissioner, just to clarify on

          3  that. Again, we're going to go with you to find a

          4  way to get this jurisdiction back, and do I hear you

          5  correctly to say that when we get that done, because

          6  I'm a believer, that we will get it done? That you

          7  are ready to move ahead with an effort to empower

          8  the non-profits to do pre-screening; that's

          9  something you're comfortable with?

         10                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Yes, sir. I'm

         11  a long-time advocate of pre-screening, okay?

         12  Because, see, you know, when I left government and

         13  went to the private world, before I came back, you

         14  know, and believe me, I came running back from the

         15  private world, hands in the air, but nonetheless,

         16  one of the things that I think I desire for running

         17  a community-based social services agency was

         18  pre-eligibility screening capacity.

         19                 Because I remember the day when we

         20  would train people at HRA and show them how to do

         21  the applications and let them get the information,

         22  and, you know, send it down. And when you could in

         23  fact deputize somebody to do the pre-screening,

         24  we're not talking about pre-determination, I'm not

         25  saying certify this client, you can't do that. You
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          2  know, you're not an employee of the City of New

          3  York. But there are things that you can do.  You can

          4  help that client get through the obstacle of that

          5  application. You are already delivering that client

          6  and that agency -- you're already working with the

          7  obstacles of language from getting them other

          8  services. So, if you have them there already, it's

          9  my thing. I have the client, they're sitting here,

         10  what am I going to do as a worker in community? Go

         11  to HRA. Well, I have you. So, HRA, let me hold your

         12  forms, I'm not going to steal them, we're not going

         13  to make copies of them, because God forbid, ain't

         14  nothing we can do with them anyway, we're going to

         15  have the people fill them out. We have a

         16  relationship with them already. We're going to send

         17  them to you with the application done, and that's

         18  one less element you guys got to do.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: All right.

         20                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Then you can

         21  fast track. So, those are the kinds of things I'm

         22  looking for, absolutely, sir.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: All on the same

         24  page.

         25                 Council Member James Davis.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: Thank you,

          3  Chairman DeBlasio, for your leadership, as far as

          4  this committee is concerned.

          5                 I want to compliment Commissioner

          6  Verna Eggleston. I have spoken to many persons who

          7  are working under your leadership, and they

          8  constantly compliment your openness to listen, your

          9  openness and your willingness to work with and

         10  consider all ideas, as the Councilman of the 35th

         11  Councilmanic District, Crown Heights, Prospect

         12  Heights, Clinton Hill, Fort Green, I would

         13  volunteer, as I'm sure all my colleagues, to be one

         14  of those community-based organizations, if you will,

         15  that would be honored if you would deputize us to go

         16  forth and represent and work with you.

         17                 I only have one question, but I

         18  wanted to make sure that you knew that we applaud

         19  the work that you've been doing to date, as far as

         20  HRA is concerned, and keep up the good work.

         21                 The question, if our goal is to see

         22  to it that as many people as possible have access to

         23  food stamps, it seems to me that one way to increase

         24  access to information, is to disseminate the food

         25  stamp application as widely as possible.
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          2                 On that issue, does HRA have plans to

          3  make the application available on its website?

          4                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: See, that's

          5  the tricky part. You know, we can make it available

          6  for information purposes, but you can't get followed

          7  electronically. Here we are midstream with

          8  automation, and select of things to give up in these

          9  tight fiscal times, you know, I knew I had to

         10  continue with food money in our budget, I knew I had

         11  to make sure that the money remained to continue

         12  automation, because, you know, some of the pilots

         13  that we tried, you know, the research pilots that we

         14  tried, you know, where child only cases where folks

         15  can call in and research cases so they wouldn't have

         16  to come in.

         17                 So, we're trying all kinds of things

         18  in this tough fiscal time. I'm hoping, fingers

         19  crossed, that you know, we can make it through these

         20  tough rounds of budget cuts and continue our

         21  automation so our clients can in fact do that. In

         22  the meantime, we're still going to have to depend on

         23  the community, as I suggested to the chair earlier,

         24  our advocacy is always going to have to be

         25  two-tracked.  While we go for the optimal world,
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          2  we're still going to have to do those things that

          3  are doable.

          4                 I can tell you, given the world of

          5  automation and the way that automation changes, I'll

          6  probably get the state to agree to allow me to

          7  deputize community-based organizations to do

          8  applications before we'll get fully 100 percent of

          9  an automation, so that we can do that. And not

         10  because we can't do it, not because we don't have

         11  the capacity, but automation changes literally every

         12  nine months. You know, if you bought a computer last

         13  year, it's already outdated, you're not up to par.

         14  So, it's just the world of automation.

         15                 And we're a huge organization at

         16  home, you know, but we're doing all that we can do.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER DAVIS: Keep up the

         18  good work, Commissioner.

         19                 Thank you so much, Mr. Chairman.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Commissioner,

         21  the very last question here, and then you can

         22  continue your good work.

         23                 I just want to be certain I

         24  understand one thing. As we go forward looking at

         25  the issues we discussed towards the end of my
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          2  questions for you related to the USDA study, and we

          3  talked about people who might be falling through the

          4  cracks, I'm looking at some figures, and just tell

          5  me if this sounds like we're in the ball park here.

          6                 From the JobStat figures for August

          7  this year, and looking at the Citywide situation,

          8  the percentage of cases that were closed, people who

          9  had been on public assistance and the cases were

         10  closed, but the people continued to receive food

         11  stamps, and what I think I understand it to be is

         12  the Citywide figure at that point was 6.9 percent

         13  Citywide continued to receive food stamps, and, yet,

         14  when you look at a different, but still an

         15  interesting comparison similar to comparisons for

         16  Medicaid, about 73 percent of the folks leaving

         17  public assistance were receiving Medicaid. So,

         18  again, I know you've said very openly, and we

         19  appreciate there's more work to be done, does that

         20  sound about accurate that we are at that low a level

         21  of people leaving welfare and picking up food stamps

         22  as they leave?

         23                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         24  DIAMOND: Those numbers, the food stamp and the

         25  Medicaid number measure two different things, it's
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          2  not an apples to apples comparison. The food stamp

          3  number indicates how many people are receiving food

          4  stamps at the end of their transitional period, so

          5  that the people have already received food stamps

          6  for a period, at the time you discussed, August, it

          7  was three months, and now it looks for how many are

          8  continuing to receive after the three-month

          9  extension. There the challenge is to get people to

         10  come in and realize that the benefit is not going to

         11  continue automatically forever, they need to come in

         12  and reapply to continue eligibility. That's been a

         13  message that we've tried to get out, but, frankly,

         14  it's a difficult one to get out. Sometimes when you

         15  give people a benefit automatically, at some point

         16  they continue to believe they will receive it and

         17  they don't have to file an application. That's

         18  simply not true, now it's after five months, at that

         19  point it was after three months if they don't file

         20  it will end, and those numbers are accurate and show

         21  that only, unfortunately, a small percentage do.

         22                 For Medicaid, the 78 percent is

         23  within the automatic period. So, you would expect a

         24  very high number because that measures at 60 days

         25  how many receiving Medicaid, 60 days after closing,
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          2  Medicaid has an initial automatic period of six

          3  months, so you would expect to see a very high

          4  number.

          5                 We have to adjust those numbers or

          6  that what we're measuring in light of some of the

          7  automatic things that have happened, but it's not a

          8  precise measurement.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Right. Well, I

         10  appreciate the explanation. So, what it says in the

         11  end is that it's a complex piece of work to actually

         12  ensure that people do not fall through the cracks

         13  and do come back and reapply when it comes to food

         14  stamps and carry on.

         15                 So, I mean, while I think, as a way

         16  to leave the testimony here, what it says to us is

         17  that we have a lot of the right ideas in hand here,

         18  but that we're really dealing with some very

         19  significant numbers of folks that we're going to

         20  have to catch up with here.

         21                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         22  DIAMOND: Yes, I think that's accurate. I mean, the

         23  good thing again is that people get those food

         24  stamps automatically for a period of time, but the

         25  challenge is to make sure they come in and do what
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          2  they need to do to continue to get them, if they

          3  continue to be eligible and interested in receiving

          4  them.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Well, I want to

          6  thank you both again. We appreciate your forthright

          7  answers. I want you to know the Committee does wish

          8  you happy holidays, and we hope you get some rest

          9  during the happy holidays, so you can come back for

         10  more challenges ahead.

         11                 COMMISSIONER EGGLESTON: Thank you,

         12  Mr. Scrooge.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: We're going to

         14  file a formal protest over that comment.

         15                 Thank you very much.

         16                 Our next witness has been

         17  extraordinarily patient, and we said we were going

         18  to go to the USDA, but we'd like to make a very

         19  brief exception for a woman named Valerie Hodge, who

         20  has a personal story that I think is very compelling

         21  of her effort, her unsuccessful effort,

         22  unfortunately, to try and get food stamps. And we'd

         23  like her to come up and just spend a moment with us.

         24  We very much appreciate, Ms. Hodge, your patience.

         25  We're sorry it's taken so long.
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          2                 Right over where the Commissioner

          3  was. The Commissioner will seat you.

          4                 Ms. Hodge, thank you very much for

          5  being with us. We're going to be very brief, but we

          6  really appreciate your willingness to come here.

          7                 MS. HODGE: Okay.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Why don't you

          9  just tell us really briefly about what you

         10  experienced with the food stamp program.

         11                 MS. HODGE: My name is Valerie Hodge,

         12  and I'm 87 years old. The middle of September of

         13  this year I applied for food stamps, and I heard

         14  from them a week ago Saturday, closed my case

         15  because I'm supposed to have a savings account, and

         16  they had the nerve to tell me that I verified and I

         17  didn't tell them that I had one. In other words,

         18  they told me that I lied.

         19                 Now, if I had a savings account, I

         20  would like them know because with the computers

         21  today they know everything about us. I have a

         22  checking account because my check goes to the bank.

         23  I went to the bank to verify whatever was in the

         24  letter. The bank give me a statement to take back to

         25  the food stamp. I had to take three buses to get
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          2  there. I took the letter and show it to them, she

          3  said, they took it in the back someplace, I said can

          4  I see my case worker? They said no, you will hear

          5  from us soon.

          6                 I haven't heard. I met a gentleman on

          7  the bus, he gave me the number to call somebody

          8  else, whatever, I forgot the name right now, and

          9  they called me, I stated my case to them and here I

         10  am. Because that's almost three months I'm waiting.

         11  I don't have a savings account. I have a checking

         12  account, and then have to travel back and forth and

         13  wait in line, then you have to sit and wait til they

         14  call you. That's ridiculous. And I'm very much mad

         15  about lying, you know, they didn't even ask me if I

         16  have a savings account, I would tell them I didn't

         17  have any. So, that's the story. I need my stamps.

         18                 I had my stamps before, before I

         19  moved to Queens, and it's finished, and I didn't

         20  know how to get around to find this place, so I kept

         21  on, kept on asking, and then one lady came to the

         22  center and she give me the address, some company

         23  that deals with the food, and I find this place and

         24  I went down there and that's the story, I still

         25  don't have my food stamps and I'm entitled to it.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So, Mrs. Hodge,

          3  you had had food stamps --

          4                 MS. HODGE: When I lived in the Bronx,

          5  yes.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: When you lived

          7  in the Bronx.

          8                 MS. HODGE: Yes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And did the

         10  caseworker you spoke to understand you had

         11  previously qualified? Did they ask you had you ever

         12  --

         13                 MS. HODGE: It was no problem at all.

         14  But when you come down in Queens they give you a

         15  long story. You don't get no service at nothing.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Which center

         17  did you go to?

         18                 MS. MUENTEZ: Jamaica Food Stamps.

         19                 MS. HODGE: Somewhere where the train

         20  runs.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Please

         22  introduce yourself. Go ahead.

         23                 MS. MUENTEZ: Good afternoon. My name

         24  is Maria Muentez. I'm the Coordinator of the Food

         25  Force Program at Community Food Resource Center and
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          2  I've been assisting Ms. Hodge with her case.

          3                 The center that she applied at was

          4  actually at 41 Jamaica Food Stamps. And just to

          5  clarify a little bit what happened, she contacted us

          6  because she hadn't heard from the Center, and when I

          7  had called them they actually were not even aware

          8  that she had brought in the letter to prove that she

          9  doesn't have a savings account. And they were not

         10  planning to make any further inquiries because as

         11  far as they were concerned, the case was closed.

         12                 MS. HODGE: Just like that.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So, they

         14  understood that you were 87 years old --

         15                 MS. HODGE: I filled an application

         16  out, naturally they know.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: You had

         18  previously had food stamps.

         19                 MS. HODGE: Yes.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And then they

         21  were concerned that you had a bank account, you

         22  brought back a letter clarifying you didn't have a

         23  savings account.

         24                 MS. HODGE: Correct. I have the letter

         25  with me now.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Then did you

          3  get anything back saying --

          4                 MS. HODGE: Nothing. No, they said

          5  we'll take a bit, and that's about it. I haven't

          6  heard.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And when you --

          8                 MS. HODGE: And I was told I was

          9  eligible from the lady that came to the Center. She

         10  said I will get $46. That's what she told me, which

         11  is better than nothing. Thank you very much.

         12                 This place now had nothing, nothing

         13  at all. They don't cooperate with you. It's

         14  terrible.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Did you feel

         16  anyone there was listening to you when you tried to

         17  explain your situation?

         18                 MS. HODGE: No. They just take the

         19  papers and went back there and come back and that's

         20  it. Can I see this? No. Go home, we'll take care of

         21  it. We're not dogs. I work. I'm very much hurt,

         22  because I'm not a liar.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And since you

         24  don't have food stamps, how do you make ends meet?

         25                 MS. HODGE: Well, you know, a grown

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            102

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  woman, and you have a stove and you have a few

          3  pennies, you cook what you can cook on and save it.

          4  You can cook for two days and eat, you know, all

          5  right? You have to find a way to cook food, but you

          6  need some more change, you need a little more. You

          7  know, I find myself going down more and more and I

          8  need more money to buy food, and I said I'll apply

          9  for my food stamps and I'll try to find a place, and

         10  I got the address and I went. And it's for no

         11  reason, for three months. It's ridiculous.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And the prices

         13  in the supermarket aren't getting any lower, are

         14  they?

         15                 MS. HODGE: No, they're getting lower.

         16  It depends on what you buy.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Well, you seem

         18  like a smart shopper.

         19                 MS. HODGE: Yes. You buy your meat and

         20  all different kinds of food that lasts longer.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Very good.

         22                 MS. HODGE: That's right. You have to

         23  learn how to live.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Yes.

         25                 MS. HODGE: But I am entitled to food
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          2  stamps and I want them. That's the problem.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Well, Ms.

          4  Hodge, this is extremely helpful testimony, because

          5  you're really giving us a very, very clear example

          6  --

          7                 MS. HODGE: It's ridiculous.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: You're giving

          9  us a very, very clear example of what we have to do

         10  better. And we've asked our colleagues from HRA to

         11  please immediately look into your case and see what

         12  they could do to help.

         13                 MS. HODGE: The first time I went, I

         14  stayed so long, I was getting hungry. I had to get

         15  up and go to the desk and plead, because I was there

         16  from 10:00 in the morning until in the afternoon,

         17  and I said I'm hungry, I'm a diabetic and I can't

         18  take it anymore. So then a gentleman took me in the

         19  back to whatever she is, and, you know, filled the

         20  application out. Even that lady give me some chips

         21  to eat because I was so hungry I was shaking. It's

         22  ridiculous.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Council Member

         24  Kendall Stewart has a question, Ma'am.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: I just have a
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          2  comment. The term "the case is closed," I've been

          3  hearing that quite a lot from a lot of folks, and I

          4  forgot to ask the Commissioner about that, because a

          5  number of folks have been saying whatever they tried

          6  and they're saying the case is closed.

          7                 What I would like the Commissioner to

          8  take back, what determines when a case is closed

          9  that you can't look back and see if there's

         10  something you can do to the case? How can we

         11  determine that it's closed? What has to be that a

         12  case is closed?

         13                 In her instance I feel there should

         14  be different circumstances for everybody, and it

         15  should be looked into if something can be done

         16  instead of the answers being given back the case is

         17  closed?

         18                 MS. HODGE: The reason why, because I

         19  didn't tell them I had a savings account. That's

         20  right on the letter that they sent me.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Yes, but I'm

         22  saying, the comment I'm making is that I would like

         23  the Administration to at least instruct their

         24  workers to say, listen, the case is closed, let's

         25  see why it's closed. Let's look into it. There might
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          2  be a mistake here. Look at it, let's correct it.

          3                 MS. HODGE: Right. Call you back and

          4  explain to you. But, no.

          5                 MS. MUENTEZ: If I can just add

          6  something? When I spoke to actually the worker

          7  supervisor, it wasn't that she said that well

          8  sometimes they do get a match, somebody doesn't

          9  declare something and they get a match when they do

         10  a computer search, which is completely

         11  understandable. It's just that if they would have

         12  given here the opportunity to reply to that, then

         13  she would have complied and brought in the paper

         14  proving that she doesn't have that account, and then

         15  they wouldn't have had to close it, instead of

         16  denying it automatically without giving her a chance

         17  to respond and to say, yes, I do, or no, I don't

         18  really have this bank account. In this particular

         19  case it was an error.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Council Member

         21  Larry Seabrook.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Thank you,

         23  Mr. Chairman.

         24                 And thank you, Ms. Hodge, for being

         25  here.
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          2                 MS. HODGE: You're welcome.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: And it is a

          4  shame that you had to come here for this.

          5                 MS. HODGE: That's right.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: What you're

          7  entitled to.

          8                 And Ms. Hodge was born in 1915.

          9                 MS. HODGE: That's right, 1915. July

         10  3rd.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: That's my

         12  mother's age.

         13                 MS. HODGE: I have a bad heart, heart

         14  failure, arthritis, and I have diabetic (sic), and I

         15  can't get food stamps?

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: And you know

         17  there was a time there was a law that prevented us

         18  from even getting relief, Ms. Hodge, you know that?

         19  In America.

         20                 MS. HODGE: Yes, I know.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: We couldn't

         22  get relief.

         23                 MS. HODGE: I know those hard times. I

         24  know those hard times.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: And we
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          2  survived. And now she's entitled to this, and being

          3  harassed.

          4                 Ms. Hodge, what church do you go to?

          5                 MS. HODGE: I go to Trinity Church,

          6  166th Street, in the Bronx.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: In the

          8  Bronx, Trinity. I know, I'm familiar with it.

          9                 And had there been an opportunity at

         10  that church, you'd had filled the papers out right

         11  there.

         12                 MS. HODGE: They call me "Grandma."

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Grandma. I

         14  know.

         15                 MS. HODGE: And I love it.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: All right.

         17  You keep being the grandma.

         18                 MS. HODGE: You see, where this food

         19  stamps, with this government, they think because

         20  you're a senior, if they said, no, you're just

         21  passing off the water, don't bother -- you have to

         22  bother.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: That's

         24  right.

         25                 MS. HODGE: And find out why.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: And I would

          3  hope that people can see that it's important that

          4  this state of emergency, that no one should be

          5  hungry here.

          6                 MS. HODGE: Correct.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: And

          8  especially people who pay their dues in this

          9  country.

         10                 MS. HODGE: Correct. Correct.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: And you have

         12  paid your dues and to go through this through this

         13  day and age is disgraceful and it should make us so

         14  damn mad that we change this right away.

         15                 And I want to apologize, but I will

         16  tell you what, and I know this Chairman will

         17  doggedly do what has to be done and this

         18  Commissioner, too, to make things better so that you

         19  will never have to go -- you could have died there.

         20                 MS. HODGE: I know, because a lot of

         21  things happen. The other day my pressure went up so

         22  high, I went to my therapy and the doctor had to

         23  call the ambulance and take me to the hospital, my

         24  pressure was 225 over 200. It's at where I get a

         25  stroke.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Exactly. And

          3  this makes absolutely no sense for people who just

          4  want to eat.

          5                 And she is not abusing the system,

          6  Mr. Chairman. She's a frugal shopper. She

          7  understands how the system works, what has to be

          8  done. She's not abusing; the system is abusing her.

          9                 MS. HODGE: I don't go to McDonalds

         10  and eat my food, I eat my food in the house.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: She cooks.

         12  She don't go to McDonalds. And that's important

         13  because that's why she's around for these 87 years.

         14  And she makes a point of that. And when I see you, I

         15  see my mother. Same age, same time you were born,

         16  and that's why I know. I know what you all have gone

         17  through in this place called America.

         18                 MS. HODGE: Fifteen grandchildren, 16

         19  great, I have a whole lot but they're far away. But

         20  I try to get around a lot, I do the best I can,

         21  because I don't stay home and weep.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: That's

         23  right.

         24                 MS. HODGE: It doesn't do any good.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: And you know
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          2  what, Ms. Hodge? If there wasn't a need, because you

          3  know you are so proud, that we never beg for

          4  nothing.

          5                 MS. HODGE: No.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: And I know.

          7                 MS. HODGE: No.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: And I'm so

          9  glad to see you here.

         10                 MS. HODGE: I'm independent.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: And I'm glad

         12  to see you here today, and something will be done.

         13                 MS. HODGE: Thank you.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: And God

         15  bless you.

         16                 MS. HODGE: Thank you so much. Have a

         17  nice holiday, gentlemen.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: We're so

         19  honored you joined us, and have a wonderful holiday.

         20                 Do you have someone to help you back

         21  to the Queens.

         22                 MS. HODGE: These ladies will take

         23  good care of me.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Excellent.

         25                 MS. HODGE: They're taking good care
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          2  of me.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Very good.

          4                 You have another adopted

          5  granddaughter there.

          6                 MS. HODGE: I wouldn't mind.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you very

          8  much for joining us. Thank you. And we will follow

          9  up to make sure that justice is done.

         10                 MS. HODGE: Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Our next

         12  witness is Bob Canavan, of the United States

         13  Department of Agriculture. And again, thank you for

         14  your patience. We appreciate it.

         15                 Mr. Canavan, again, thank you for

         16  your patience, and we welcome your testimony.

         17                 Please feel free to begin. And you

         18  can feel free to summarize, if you like. All written

         19  testimony will go into the record.

         20                 MR. CANAVAN: Thank you, Mr. Chairman,

         21  gentlemen, Counselors. My name is Bob Canavan, I'm

         22  the Regional Director of the Food Stamp Program in

         23  the Boston Regional Office of USDA's Food and

         24  Nutrition Service. Thank you for the opportunity to

         25  appear before today's City Council hearing on New
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          2  York City's Hunger Relief Programs.

          3                 It's USDA's mission to ensure that

          4  food stamp program benefits are available to all

          5  eligible applicants. The program was recently

          6  reauthorized by Congress and signed into law by

          7  President Bush as an entitlement for Needy Americans

          8  as part of the farm bill of 2002.

          9                 Congress was clear in establishing

         10  the goal of the food stamp program to increase food

         11  purchasing power for all eligible households who

         12  apply for participation.

         13                 To this end, USDA enters into

         14  agreements with state governments to administer the

         15  program. In New York State that means OTDA

         16  supervises the 57 upstate counties, and the New York

         17  City Human Resources Administration.

         18                 USDA funds 100 percent of food stamp

         19  benefits and half of the administrative costs

         20  incurred by states to operate the program.

         21                 In addition to the oversight provided

         22  by state agencies, USDA periodically reviews local

         23  program operations to ensure compliance with program

         24  guidelines. We've recently focused our attention on

         25  program access and customer service. This is largely
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          2  because participation by potentially eligible

          3  households nationwide dropped from 69 percent to 59

          4  percent between the passage of welfare reform

          5  legislation in 1996 and the Year 2000.

          6                 Our objective is to ensure that no

          7  barriers exist for households that wish to apply.

          8                 We want to make certain that their

          9  applications are processed in a timely and accurate

         10  way. We work with our state and local partners to

         11  safeguard the dignity of everyone who chooses to

         12  apply for food stamp benefits.

         13                 A 1998 USDA review of HRA local

         14  offices found serious instances of non-compliance

         15  with food stamp program law and regulations.

         16                 We found that applicant households

         17  were denied their right to file an application the

         18  same day they came to the city's job centers. In

         19  many instances, eligibility workers encouraged

         20  households to withdraw their applications.

         21                 HRA centers imposed verification

         22  standards that exceeded the standards set by federal

         23  law and regulations. Households were often sent from

         24  one office to another office.

         25                 Since the time of that review, state
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          2  and city officials have worked to address these

          3  areas of non-compliance.

          4                 Several related issues have been the

          5  subject of many lawsuits.

          6                 USDA reviewers have visited City

          7  offices several times since our original review, and

          8  most recently in July 2002. There has been progress

          9  in several areas:

         10                 - our reviewers found that

         11  applications were readily available in the offices

         12  that we visited.

         13                 - we saw better documentation of

         14  cases, we saw that HRA was moving towards Citywide

         15  paperless electronic record keeping.

         16                 - we saw no evidence that eligibility

         17  workers were any longer urging applicant households

         18  to withdraw their applications.

         19                 We also found many instances of

         20  continued non-compliance. They included:

         21                 - the denial of food stamps for

         22  reasons that are not part of food stamp program

         23  eligibility requirements.

         24                 Examples included households denied

         25  for missing medical appointments, missing substance
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          2  abuse treatments. But the most prevalent and

          3  troublesome issue was continued denial of food

          4  stamps for non-compliance with the Public Assistance

          5  Verification Program, known as EVR.

          6                 - the denial of food stamp

          7  applications before the end of the 30 day period was

          8  also determined to be a consistent problem.

          9                 And we saw inconsistent application

         10  of the rules governing expedited service. Sometimes

         11  that resulted in poor customer service, sometimes it

         12  resulted in poor accountability.

         13                 In many instances, reviewers found

         14  that HRA's published guidance was in compliance with

         15  Food Stamp Program requirements, it was just applied

         16  incorrectly.

         17                 State and City officials have cited

         18  today the corrective action proposals they have been

         19  working on in response to our review report. Those

         20  strategies as envisioned by OTDA and HRA could

         21  produce significant improvements in customer

         22  service, if they carried out promptly and

         23  consistently.

         24                 These proposals include changes to

         25  local office procedures, improvements to the
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          2  automated support of the certification process, and

          3  especially training, focused on known areas of

          4  program deficiencies. In many instances, the

          5  solution is simply the consistent communication and

          6  application of current program guidance.

          7                 USDA has produced a large supply of

          8  posters and brochures that promote the message that

          9  "Food Stamps Make America Stronger." These

         10  materials are available free of cost for

         11  distribution and posting throughout the City's

         12  neighborhoods. They can serve to remind New Yorkers

         13  that the Food Stamp Program is there for all those

         14  who need it. It is available for those in need of

         15  temporary financial assistance, it's available for

         16  the working poor, for those households who are

         17  further on their way to financial independence.

         18                 We will continue to monitor progress

         19  in HRA centers. We recognize the challenges faced by

         20  HRA in the daily delivery of multiple programs of

         21  service to New Yorkers in need.

         22                 USDA is committed to working in

         23  partnership with OTDA and the Human Resources

         24  Administration to ensure that every needy New Yorker

         25  has full opportunity to apply for Food Stamp
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          2  benefits. Above all, we must ensure that no hungry

          3  child is left behind.

          4                 We must ensure that no gentle and

          5  elegant woman like Ms. Hodge will be left behind.

          6                 Thank you for the opportunity to

          7  share these thoughts with you today.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you very

          9  much, Mr. Canavan. That's very helpful and very

         10  straightforward testimony, we appreciate it. A lot

         11  of times we don't get stuff that is so much to the

         12  point as you've done, so thank you for the way

         13  you've expressed your feelings.

         14                 Quick question on the larger problem

         15  and then just a question on the specifics. We've

         16  seen a national trend of major, major decline in

         17  food stamp usage, and would you say it's

         18  significantly because as a by-product of the welfare

         19  reform legislation fewer people came in contact with

         20  the places where they could actually get the food

         21  stamps?

         22                 MR. CANAVAN: There was that. There

         23  was almost a scary trend for both the decline in

         24  public assistance and food stamp benefits to be

         25  tracking each other identically down. And
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          2  intuitively one would think that the food stamp

          3  program would be, at that time, when people leave

          4  public assistance, all the more important a way to

          5  bridge the gap between what they get in new found

          6  employment, which often is low-paying and sometimes

          7  unpredictable, that's where the food stamp program

          8  ideally should be jumping in to help close that gap.

          9                 Part of it is that households I think

         10  nationwide got the message that welfare was less

         11  available, and thrown into that is the larger issue

         12  of food stamps being identified by the community at

         13  large as a welfare program.

         14                 The food stamp program is not a

         15  welfare program. The food stamp program is a

         16  nutrition program. That's the message of our Food

         17  Stamps Make America Healthy Program, that's the

         18  message we have to get into the community, that's

         19  the message we need to get into the mindset of

         20  eligibility workers, and HRA and every other office

         21  in the United States.

         22                 The application for the food stamp

         23  program is not an admission of guilt, it is not a

         24  source of shame, it's an act of hope for the welfare

         25  and the good health of our families. We need to get

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            119

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  that message across.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Very well said.

          4                 And just looking at what you found.

          5  Obviously, what you found back in 1998, where it

          6  was, unfortunately, such a bad situation as you say

          7  here, eligibility work has encouraged households to

          8  withdraw their applications, which is exactly in the

          9  wrong direction, but now we all agree there's been

         10  some progress and a better attitude, but we still

         11  see, it seems to me, some very troubling things -

         12  not denying people for things, for reasons that have

         13  nothing to do with the food stamp program, which I

         14  think is a vestige of some previous policies that

         15  has not been weeded out, and not appropriately

         16  recognizing the time frames.

         17                 How much, in your view, how much can

         18  this be changed and how quickly? And my concern is

         19  unfortunately we know there is a larger culture that

         20  has to be changed to inform everyone associated with

         21  the government side of treating the customer like a

         22  customer, just as they would in the private sector.

         23                 So, my concern here is that right now

         24  you've heard the figures, hundreds of thousands of

         25  New Yorkers going out of the food stamps, how
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          2  quickly can we turn this around? And in your

          3  professional opinion, what's it going to take to

          4  change the culture?

          5                 MR. CANAVAN: I'm afraid if there was

          6  a silver bullet somebody would have pulled it out of

          7  their belt long ago.

          8                 This is a marathon. This is not a

          9  one-inning game. We need to change the culture, we

         10  need to change the mindset in the community and in

         11  the local offices. We need to do it starting today

         12  and starting tomorrow and then starting the day

         13  after.

         14                 That's the only way we're going to

         15  make this change permanent. We need to remove the

         16  stigma of the program, we need to encourage people

         17  to use this program as a building block to family

         18  health.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: If you found a

         20  consistent pattern of non-compliance in the sense

         21  that a locality consistently did not appropriately

         22  follow the rules, and was turning down people or not

         23  making information available to them on a, you know,

         24  a consistent basis, what sort of sanctions does USDA

         25  have?
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          2                 MR. CANAVAN: The Department of

          3  Agriculture always seeks partnership, teamwork and

          4  collaboration with our partners at the state and

          5  local level, and we exhaust every avenue of

          6  collaboration team work before we would move to a

          7  point of fiscal sanction.

          8                 We do pay half of the cost of the

          9  administration of the program, and the secretary is

         10  empowered after due deliberation to determine

         11  amounts of those administrative costs that would be

         12  penalized against the state that was in one form of

         13  non-compliance or another.

         14                 Clearly, the issue of intent would

         15  loom large in determining how much penalty would be

         16  involved.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Bob, I mean

         18  this is a conversation we never want to have, but

         19  the bottom line is, if these problems weren't

         20  solved, you have the ability in a sense to levy very

         21  significant fines on New York City, in the sense of

         22  the administrative costs.

         23                 MR. CANAVAN: The secretary has that

         24  authority with all jurisdictions.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And have you
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          2  had to use that in the other parts of the country?

          3                 MR. CANAVAN: It's used very

          4  selectively, and as I say, at the end of long

          5  attempts to collaborate. It does happen.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Right.

          7                 MR. CANAVAN: And it does happen with

          8  significant amount of money involved.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Council Member

         10  Kendall Stewart has a question.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Mr. Director,

         12  you said that the USDA funds 100 percent of the food

         13  stamps.

         14                 MR. CANAVAN: Benefits, yes, sir.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Right.

         16                 What I'm holding up here is what is

         17  said to be the application for food stamps, and it

         18  has something like 16 pages. Isn't that a travesty

         19  that you see this and you know that, and you haven't

         20  done anything in terms of making it simple or

         21  telling the state or the City that it should be

         22  simpler, so that more people can get food stamps?

         23                 MR. CANAVAN: We're working with

         24  states around the country to come up with a more

         25  streamlined, a more customer-friendly, a shorter
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          2  application form. To some extent, to give the devil

          3  their due, we have served and we are enslaved by

          4  machines, and any change to the application process

          5  involves a very, very elaborate change in the

          6  computer systems that -- I would love to go up there

          7  with the scissors and cut it in half, that would be

          8  easier. But the food stamp program is typically

          9  managed at the same time in a very intertwined way

         10  with the TANF program, with Medicaid program and so

         11  forth, and the whole application process is, any

         12  change in that process tends to become, even

         13  simplification becomes complicated.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Yes, I

         15  understand that. But to me, I feel that the USDA

         16  should take some blame for this problem that we have

         17  right now, because, it's really, to me it's really

         18  blocking a lot of people from getting what they're

         19  supposed to get, and if we are concerned about these

         20  folks, at least we should try to remove this barrier

         21  to begin with. It's just too long an application,

         22  and someone should have, you understand, to at least

         23  get the basic information. And this is what I was

         24  trying to get through HRA, should get the basic

         25  information that what is required, not 16 pages. And
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          2  we now have computers, there should be a way that we

          3  can get information directly into the computer as

          4  quick as possible so people can be serviced, and

          5  that's what I'm concerned about.

          6                 On the other hand, since you provide

          7  100 percent through the state and the City,

          8  shouldn't you take the initiative to make sure this

          9  is done now, instead of waiting until the City tries

         10  to see if they can cajole the state to do it, and

         11  the state say, well, no? Couldn't you take the

         12  initiative to make this happen?

         13                 MR. CANAVAN: We do in fact see to the

         14  State's and the City's broad latitude, in terms of

         15  how they manage the program, the types of

         16  applications that they develop. We'll be happy to

         17  work with the City and the State to create whatever

         18  kinds of waivers are within the authority of the

         19  Department to facilitate the streamlining of the

         20  application form.

         21                 But, in fact, it's sort of a up to

         22  the City and to the State to allow them, to figure

         23  out what works best for New Yorkers, and we'll be

         24  happy to support whatever changes are proposed, so

         25  long as they are going to make the program easier
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          2  for applicants.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: But one

          4  concept that you have is that this is a program for

          5  health reasons, but the State and City may have it

          6  for the fact, they may have it as a fact of welfare,

          7  and your concept is not the same. So, that's the

          8  first thing you have to bring to them. It's not a

          9  welfare program, isn't that what you said awhile

         10  ago? Right. So, you know, that's the first

         11  information you should bring to them. Because they

         12  seem to be, there's so much restrictions in really

         13  getting what you're supposed to get.

         14                 There's a lady who was here awhile

         15  ago and I was moved by the problem that she was

         16  having, in terms of getting what she was entitled to

         17  get. And, so, you know, if we can play a role, if we

         18  all could play a role in making that change, I think

         19  it would be great.

         20                 MR. CANAVAN: If there's a light of

         21  hope on the horizon, this is not the only Chamber

         22  where this issue is under discussion. There are

         23  other states all over the country, as well as

         24  Upstate New York, in Onondaga County, they have

         25  succeeded in shrinking down that form.
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          2                 Other states have found things like

          3  forms that they use just for the elder community,

          4  and they've had great success in streamlining them,

          5  and we're eager to share those ideas, and to support

          6  whatever the City and the State would find would

          7  make the program more accessible.

          8                 One bit of history on this form is

          9  there used to be multiple forms to apply for TANF,

         10  to apply for food stamps, to apply for Medicaid. A

         11  benefit was to make it all into one form. The

         12  downside of that was the form, in fact, expanded.

         13  You know, so I think the direction is kind of going

         14  the opposite direction now. If folks want to come in

         15  and just apply for food assistance, let's put

         16  something in their hands that will be much more

         17  manageable.

         18                 That's the direction we're going and

         19  we'll certain support every effort to get that where

         20  that plays in New York City.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: All right. I

         22  thank you for your testimony. And I hope we can

         23  please make some changes, and meaningful changes

         24  quickly.

         25                 Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Mr. Canavan,

          3  just a couple of last quick questions. So, one

          4  historical question. So, on the question of

          5  sanction, again, we hope this never comes to pass,

          6  just so we understand how the rules work: Is it

          7  clear that in the past in New York City, you

          8  actually had to start down the road a little bit, I

          9  understand after the '98 study that you had to make

         10  clear to the then administration that if there were

         11  not changes, they would be risking some kind of fine

         12  or some kind of impact on the administrative

         13  dollars?

         14                 MR. CANAVAN: The first stages of the

         15  administrative sanction process were begun, and

         16  those tend to be good faith, early warnings.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: But you

         18  actually did have to send a warning letter in

         19  '98/'99 to New York City?

         20                 MR. CANAVAN: I want to say there was

         21  an advanced notification somewhere in 1998/'99.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: You're a

         23  diplomat. Okay.

         24                 Two other quick questions. You saw

         25  the exchange that I had with the two HRA
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          2  representatives, and I understood that they were

          3  honestly grappling with the question of the high

          4  administrative cost and the impact that had on the

          5  City budget in a time of fiscal crisis. But from

          6  your perspective, again, isn't it just very clearly

          7  a great bang for the buck, if you will, to spend

          8  that administrative money to be able to ensure that

          9  that much federal money comes in and that that has

         10  that big an impact on family?

         11                 MR. CANAVAN: There is a soft number

         12  that you hear out there that says there's a

         13  multiplier effect of either three dollars to one, or

         14  four dollars to one, some people even say five

         15  dollars to one. It's not just a benefit to the

         16  applicant household and the participating household,

         17  or to the retailer that you see. I mean, there's the

         18  warehouseman is the wholesaler, and from our

         19  perspective at USDA there's the farmer. There's a

         20  whole ripple effect. There's certainly an

         21  administrative cost associated with managing every

         22  case, but Congress said that this program was

         23  available to everybody who met eligibility

         24  standards. So, I think there's a statutory, as well

         25  as an economic argument in favor of everyone who is
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          2  eligible having full opportunity to participate and

          3  apply for the program.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So, what would

          5  be the policy, or the opinion of USDA if a locality

          6  said we won't fund additional administrative costs,

          7  even though we could sign up additional people?

          8                 MR. CANAVAN: The sense of entitlement

          9  is that everyone who approaches needs to be able to

         10  file an application and get a timely process.

         11                 Our agreement with states in broadest

         12  terms that says that we will pay half of the cost,

         13  but you need to provide the plant, the staff, the

         14  resources to manage those cases.

         15                 If we found ourselves in a situation

         16  where adequate resources weren't being brought to

         17  bear, we would need to look at ways of either

         18  through suasion or otherwise to get to the point

         19  that there would be those adequate resources.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: But there's not

         21  a requirement to continue to build a mechanism to

         22  reach more people?

         23                 In other words, it's in a sense

         24  passed. You have to accommodate those who show up,

         25  but you're not obligated to create the mechanism to
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          2  reach as many people as possible, a locality is not

          3  obligated.

          4                 MR. CANAVAN: There is not an

          5  obligation, but New York State and New York City

          6  actually have a track record of making program

          7  information available. I think the issue here is

          8  renewing and reinvigorating those efforts.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: One last

         10  question. I mentioned this from the job stats,

         11  statistics, from earlier this year, and I understood

         12  Deputy Commissioner Diamond's clarification, even if

         13  you accept the clarification, only around seven

         14  percent of the folks leaving welfare who have

         15  exhausted their transitional time are then

         16  reapplying to be able to receive food stamps on an

         17  ongoing basis; does that strike you as rather low?

         18                 MR. CANAVAN: If that is the number.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: I mean, he

         20  seemed to confirm that was the number, so...

         21                 MR. CANAVAN: That appears to be a

         22  very -- again, assuming that people are moving from

         23  TANF cash benefits into what typically is a

         24  fluctuating and sometimes mercurial job situation,

         25  you would think that there are lots of those folks,
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          2  lots more than those numbers would imply, who could

          3  benefit from food stamps.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Especially in a

          5  bad economy.

          6                 MR. CANAVAN: Exactly.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And I take it

          8  that's the kind of thing you would want to keep an

          9  eye on on the federal level?

         10                 MR. CANAVAN: We want to make sure

         11  that everybody who is eligible for the program has

         12  the opportunity to apply and to know that the

         13  program is there and if they so choose, to

         14  participate.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Very good.

         16                 Mr. Canavan, thank you very much.

         17  Thank you for coming all this way to help us today.

         18  And your testimony was very helpful, very to the

         19  point, and we look forward to working very closely

         20  with you as we hopefully improve things here in New

         21  York City.

         22                 MR. CANAVAN: Thank you for the

         23  opportunity of attending.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Be well. Happy

         25  holidays to you.
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          2                 MR. CANAVAN: Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: We now have

          4  Barbara Carson, and Doreen Wohl, both associated

          5  with the West Side Coalition Against Hunger.

          6                 Thank you, again, for your patience.

          7  Thank everyone for their patience today.

          8                 We only have a few more witnesses,

          9  but all of them have important things to say. So,

         10  we'll move through.

         11                 Who would like to go first?

         12                 MS. CARSON: She will start.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Okay, she'll

         14  start. Just state your name and please begin.

         15                 MS. WOHL: My name is Doreen Wohl, I'm

         16  the Executive Director of the West Side Campaign

         17  Against Hunger.

         18                 Good afternoon. I want to thank the

         19  Chair and members of the General Welfare Committee

         20  for having this hearing on food stamps.

         21                 I'm the Director of the largest food

         22  pantry in New York City, and it's run out of the

         23  baselands of the church of St. Paul and St. Andrew

         24  at 86th and West End Avenue.

         25                 Families come to WSCAH once a month
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          2  and shop for three days' worth of food. We are

          3  structured like a supermarket. We're very customer

          4  friendly, customers select their own food and they

          5  also help run the shop. We function as a customer

          6  cooperative.

          7                 Over the past four years, the

          8  unduplicated number of households coming to WSCAH,

          9  which is the synonym for West Side Campaign Against

         10  Hunger, has grown from 5,000 a year in 1999 to 8,000

         11  in the year that ended June 30th of 2002, a 60

         12  percent increase. Actual household visits, as people

         13  can come once a month, as grown from 18,000 in 1999

         14  to 27,000 in 2002. A 50 percent increase.

         15                 Everyone coming to WSCAH for

         16  emergency food should be eligible for food stamps.

         17  They are all of low income, 69 percent are families

         18  with growing children, eight percent are seniors, 23

         19  percent are adults without children, many of whom

         20  suffer from some form of illness. All need the

         21  nutritional support that the food stamp program was

         22  designed to provide. Unfortunately, that is not

         23  happening.

         24                 In 1999, of 4,914 households, only

         25  402, eight percent, received food stamps. In 2000,
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          2  it was 11 percent. In 2001, 11 percent, and in 2002,

          3  it had shrunk back to nine percent again.

          4                 This is a disgraceful situation.

          5  Though the number of households has increased by 71

          6  percent over four years, the percentage of people in

          7  need receiving food stamps has remained pathetically

          8  low, and there is as yet no sign of it getting

          9  better.

         10                 In October 2002, of 2,561 households,

         11  only 211 or eight percent were receiving food

         12  stamps. In November of 2002, only 193 or seven

         13  percent were receiving food stamps. Each month we

         14  are referring customers to apply for food stamps,

         15  telling them where to go and what documents they

         16  will need.

         17                 The feedback that we get from them is

         18  a litany of difficulties:

         19                 - the illegal parent's fear of

         20  applying on behalf of their children.

         21                 - the necessary documentation of five

         22  years of employment for legal immigrants.

         23                 - the number of documents needed.

         24                 - the length of the application.

         25                 - the waiting time.
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          2                 - the disrespectful way they are

          3  treated.

          4                 - caseworkers changed.

          5                 - documents lost.

          6                 - only one-time emergency issue of

          7  stamps.

          8                 - not hearing for months if they're

          9  eligible.

         10                 - frequently recertifications.

         11                 - getting cut off, even when all

         12  documents are provided; and

         13                 - if they're on Social Security or

         14  disability, the assumption that you can only get $10

         15  of food stamps makes the hassle of the process not

         16  worthwhile.

         17                 I present to you the individual food

         18  stamp experience of four of our customers who have

         19  come to WSCAH in the past week.

         20                 Barbara Carson is with us today and

         21  is going to present. Fidelina Corporan; Ms. Davis,

         22  and Ms. G., you have the written testimony for. And,

         23  so, at this point I want to hand over to Barbara.

         24                 I do just want to say that it's quite

         25  difficult for people to find time to come down here.
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          2  Ms. Corporan has a one-month premature baby, that

          3  makes it even harder. I invite you to come to West

          4  Side Campaign Against Hunger, we're open five days a

          5  week. Because any day of the week you're going to be

          6  able to speak to plenty of people who have these

          7  experiences.

          8                 So, Barbara.

          9                 MS. CARSON: Hello. My name is Barbara

         10  Carson. I have worked for 20 years as an LPN in

         11  Metropolitan Hospital. Until 1994 when my daughter

         12  died of an aneurism. I took custody of my five

         13  grandchildren, ages two to 12.

         14                 The Bureau of Child Welfare told me

         15  that I could not have custody of my grandchildren,

         16  that I must be a full-time parent.

         17                 Up until that time they had been

         18  receiving welfare in the name of my oldest

         19  grandchild, Lanair. BCW advised me to apply for

         20  public assistance and become the head of household.

         21                 I have been having problems with my

         22  public assistance case and food stamp benefits for

         23  years. I have been cut off numerous times, and it

         24  has become a full-time job to keep my family's case

         25  active. Most recently, my case was cut off suddenly
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          2  in July of 2002, and it has been an uphill battle

          3  for reinstatement since then.

          4                 Last year, my second oldest

          5  grandchild, Toyya, took a jot at Pioneers. At the

          6  time she was 17 years old, she turned 18 in

          7  February. In July of 2002, she decided to take a

          8  position as a camp counselor in Upstate New York.

          9  She worked through the month of July and returned

         10  home at the start of August.

         11                 Upon her return home, she found out

         12  that she needed to complete an employment status

         13  form that related to our case. She completed it and

         14  sent it into the office.

         15                 In August I was in the hospital. My

         16  daughter Jen-Ai was collecting and receiving my

         17  mail. Because of my hospital stay and Toyya's

         18  away-from-home job, the form was sent in late, and

         19  my case was closed.

         20                 I did not know that my case was cut

         21  off until August when I went to use my benefits. I

         22  immediately went to the center to find out why. They

         23  did not give me a reason. I put in for a fair

         24  hearing, which occurred in September. It was then

         25  that I found out the reason for the loss of
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          2  benefits. I immediately began working to retain my

          3  case.

          4                 I had no food in October. The West

          5  Side Campaign Against Hunger has become my only

          6  source of food. I received emergency food stamps for

          7  the month of November, but nothing for December. I

          8  remain without food stamps or income. I volunteer

          9  daily at WSCAH to feed my family. And at the same

         10  time, I continue to work to reinstate my case, even

         11  if that case excludes my working granddaughter.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you.

         13  That's very helpful to us. It's very moving

         14  testimony, too, all that you've had to go through.

         15                 When you went back to the center and

         16  explained what happened, what was the attitude of

         17  the people you were working with, the caseworkers

         18  and the officials there?

         19                 MS. CARSON: They told me nothing.

         20  They told me that I had to reapply. So, I did that

         21  in October. But from August until October I had no

         22  food stamps and no benefits.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: They said you

         24  had to reapply? Did they understand what you were

         25  telling them of how this occurred?
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          2                 MS. CARSON: They wasn't interested.

          3  They told me I had -- losing the fair hearing,

          4  because I wasn't prepared, I didn't know that it was

          5  about my granddaughters, thought it was something I

          6  had did wrong. When I got to the hearing I found out

          7  it was because she sent the form back late. But she

          8  wasn't here, she was Upstate New York, so she

          9  couldn't have sent it back on time. Nobody heard me.

         10  They closed my case.

         11                 I reapplied, the first time I got

         12  food stamps was in November. I've had none since

         13  then.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: So, you went in

         15  and you had the hearing on September 11th.

         16                 MS. CARSON: Yes.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: And it's now

         18  December 16th, and you've only gotten the emergency

         19  food stamps, you have not been reinstated into the

         20  program after three months?

         21                 MS. CARSON: They say I am but there's

         22  no benefits. I brought them a letter saying that my

         23  daughter went to the camp, the letter verified that

         24  she was upstate and that she wasn't here to send the

         25  form back in time. It didn't matter. It did not
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          2  matter.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Did you get the

          4  feeling that the people you were there with were

          5  just as content to see you off food stamps as on

          6  food stamps?

          7                 MS. CARSON: Yes. It didn't concern

          8  them at all. I went to the center this morning,

          9  there's no benefits. I went there three times. They

         10  made the mistake. I went there three times to

         11  correct the mistake they made, and it's still, the

         12  same mistake is still there. They put the wrong date

         13  on the benefits. They put April 3rd, it should have

         14  been 12/3, not 4/3. And every time I go back there,

         15  a lot of paper, they put the form in and still no

         16  benefits.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Have you ever

         18  talked to any of the managers there, or anybody --

         19                 MS. CARSON: You don't get to do that.

         20  You go no further than the front desk.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Say that again?

         22                 MS. CARSON: You don't get to talk to

         23  anyone. You see, there's no workers. In the center

         24  I'm in there's no workers. You go to the front desk.

         25  If you have a problem, you go to the front desk,
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          2  they look upon the computer, if they can solve it

          3  there, that's where they solve it at. Then they send

          4  you upstairs. But you don't see anybody there, they

          5  wait for it to come to the back machine (sic) and

          6  that's what they do. You don't get to talk to

          7  anybody over them, other than the front desk.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Not what you

          9  call good customer service.

         10                 MS. CARSON: Lousy customer service.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Council Member

         12  Stewart, do you have a question?

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Doreen, West

         14  Side Campaign Against Hunger, how do you get

         15  funding?

         16                 MS. WOHL: We were originally funded

         17  by the State Health Department as a nutrition

         18  program. We receive a small amount of funding from

         19  the federal government, FEMA, and also some City

         20  funding through DYCD, Department of Youth and

         21  Community Development.

         22                 We were originally started by the

         23  religious community on the west side, and we're

         24  still supported by the churches and synagogues in

         25  that area. We receive a small amount of foundation
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          2  funding also.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: When folks

          4  come into your establishment for help, the

          5  processes, what do they have to go through? What

          6  form do they have to fill out?

          7                 MS. WOHL: Anybody can come to us.

          8  We're open five days a week, and we're open from

          9  eight in the morning until three in the afternoon,

         10  and with evening hours until 6:30. So, we try to be

         11  friendly in terms of being available.

         12                 When people come in they are

         13  interviewed by, we have four counselors, and

         14  everybody coming is interviewed. There is a one-page

         15  application form. We do enter the data into the

         16  computer, so on the return visit the data comes up

         17  very, very easily. And we see, on a busy day we can

         18  see as many as 260 households. An average day we're

         19  now seeing 160 households a day.

         20                 After they have been interviewed,

         21  they are given a shopping card based on their

         22  household size, and they go into the store, pick up

         23  a shopping cart, and go around the store and then

         24  check out at the check-out table.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Have you seen
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          2  the application for the state? Have you seen the

          3  application?

          4                 MS. WOHL: Yes, I saw it.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: What do you

          6  think about it?

          7                 MS. WOHL: It's ridiculous.

          8  Ridiculous.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: All right. Do

         10  you see any way that you can assist in terms of

         11  helping those folks who come to your center to be

         12  eligible for food stamps, in terms of filling out

         13  this form or assistant HRA in filling out this form?

         14                 MS. WOHL: If we were funded to be

         15  able to do it. I don't have the staffing for people

         16  -- with the numbers that we're seeing coming in

         17  need of emergency food, I don't presently have the

         18  staffing to assist people to fill out the form. That

         19  would require additional funding.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: All right.

         21                 So, you don't see it as a problem if

         22  you were to work closely with HRA --

         23                 MS. WOHL: To facilitate.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: To

         25  facilitate.
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          2                 MS. WOHL: No. No problem at all.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Okay, I thank

          4  you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you very

          6  much, Council member. And we want to thank both of

          7  you.

          8                 And Ms. Carson, we are going to

          9  follow up on your particular situation with HA very

         10  aggressively, and we want to thank you because you

         11  really brought some very important information to us

         12  today, and the least we can do is to try and help

         13  facilitate your case.

         14                 MS. CARSON: Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you. And

         16  have wonderful holidays, both of you.

         17                 MS. WOHL: I hope you will also read

         18  the testimony of the other three people.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Yes.

         20                 MS. WOHL: And they will also be taken

         21  up.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: All testimony

         23  goes into the record, and we will be happy to look

         24  into those as well.

         25                 MS. WOHL: Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you.

          3                 We have one last panel, and we want

          4  to thank them, again, for their patience.

          5                 Patricia Brodhagen, from the Food

          6  Industry Alliance; we have Joel Berg, New York City

          7  Coalition Against Hunger; and Carlos Rodriguez,

          8  CFRC. Please join us. And I would like Patricia to

          9  go first, since she has been particularly patient.

         10  Patience is a virtue. Well, I'll be the judge of

         11  that. We all have good things to say.

         12                 Before Patricia speaks, I want to

         13  thank her in particular, because this is an

         14  interesting example of finding allies in places that

         15  people don't necessarily assume, and Patricia and I

         16  got to know each other over the last year, and

         17  talked about why the food industry should really be

         18  in the forefront of the effort to help ensure people

         19  get food stamps, and it's very logical, but not

         20  something we think about obviously. So, Patricia --

         21                 MS. BRODHAGEN: Absolutely.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Share your

         23  wisdom.

         24                 MS. BRODHAGEN: And I'm going to

         25  ignore that comment you made about the price of
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          2  food.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: It's the

          4  economy. It's not your fault.

          5                 MS. BRODHAGEN: Good afternoon. My

          6  name is Patricia Brodhagen, and I'm the Vice

          7  President of Public Affairs of the Food Industry

          8  Alliance of New York State, which is the Statewide

          9  Trade Association of the Retail Grocery industry.

         10  And just so you know who we are specifically. In the

         11  City our members include, this isn't the entire

         12  list, but D'Agastinos, Gristides, Pathmark, C-Town,

         13  Associated, Stop and Shop, Shop Rite, Bravo,

         14  Pioneer, Waldbaums, Food Emporium, Met Foods, Key

         15  Foods and Ames stores in the City. So, really

         16  anybody you think of as a supermarket is probably a

         17  member of ours, as well as their wholesale

         18  suppliers.

         19                 The other thing I just want to say

         20  is, in our industry, the period between Thanksgiving

         21  and Christmas is real, real busy, and I had hoped

         22  that some retailers would come today. They weren't

         23  able to because of the busy time, and some

         24  scheduling conflicts. But to a person, they were

         25  thrilled that you were holding this hearing, and
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          2  said go, be sure you go and say for us that we are

          3  committed to participating in this effort in any way

          4  that you want us to. And the same is true to our

          5  colleagues at FNS and to the Administration. We

          6  probably are an untapped resource and we are very

          7  interested in the goal of food stamp outreach.

          8                 From all the data that you've already

          9  gotten that we had used, it appears to us that we're

         10  actually maybe serving half or less of eligible

         11  people.

         12                 I think my numbers are a little older

         13  than yours, but when you look at the number of

         14  people who would appear to be income eligible and

         15  then remember that food stamps actually, you can be

         16  above the poverty line and still qualify for food

         17  stamps, so if anything, I think we are

         18  under-estimating.  The numbers we're all using are

         19  probably a little bit on the low side, because we're

         20  not taking into account the fact that you don't

         21  actually have to be at the poverty level, you can be

         22  above the poverty level, and still qualify.

         23                 So, you know, it's just real

         24  important that we get out to that other 800 plus

         25  thousand people here in the City, and we're
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          2  interested statewide where we're looking at numbers

          3  of, you know, what, a million additional people.

          4                 Anyway, to say what's already been

          5  said, but just reinforce it from our perspective,

          6  encouraging participation is clearly a benefit to

          7  people in need, and that should be our number one

          8  priority, and we're food people and we strongly

          9  support that.

         10                 But it's also a clear benefit to the

         11  local economy. There are stores in the City who

         12  really probably would not be viable without food

         13  stamps, and, so, it's important to keeping certain

         14  neighborhood stores going. And with an influx of

         15  additional federal dollars, that's going to mean

         16  more jobs in our stores, and then, you know, if you

         17  go further up the food chain, it's going to generate

         18  jobs, the further up you go. It could mean upgrades

         19  in stores, and it could even tip the balance in

         20  favor of opening stores in underserved

         21  neighborhoods.

         22                 So, those are real dollars, and as

         23  important as they are to the individuals, they're

         24  important to the industry as well, and to the extent

         25  that it puts more money in people's hands than it
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          2  trickles into the rest of the economy and to the

          3  extent that those dollars replace dollars that maybe

          4  now people are spending on food but they're not

          5  paying their electric bill or they're not buying new

          6  clothing or they're not whatever, then those are

          7  brand new dollars in those segments of the economy.

          8                 So, you know, not only do we have

          9  people, but think of it as an economic stimulus

         10  package. We should really work together to bring 900

         11  million new dollars into the City every year. I

         12  mean, it's really pretty incredible.

         13                 We have done outreach. We've worked

         14  with Community Food Resource Center, they're numero

         15  uno in this business I think. And I just want to

         16  cite one program. Last June CRFC visited, on each of

         17  the Saturdays in June they picked one Pathmark store

         18  in this case, and they spent four to five hours

         19  doing that pre-screening that you heard about. So,

         20  they sat in that store, so over the month they were

         21  able to visit five stores, and I think they're going

         22  to repeat it this spring. And what's so interesting

         23  is that of the people who, you know, they self

         24  selected, that the people who approached that table

         25  to determine whether or not they were eligible, 75
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          2  percent of them were. So, those people are out

          3  there, and Pathmark did that in a store in

          4  Philadelphia sort of on their own, and same 75

          5  percent. So, you know, we're a good place actually

          6  to be doing this activity, in addition to all the

          7  other venues that were mentioned. I mean, people

          8  come to the store, and if there's an opportunity

          9  there to pre-screen, to the extent that people are

         10  willing to come forward, you know, that's 75

         11  percent, that's a big number.

         12                 And our feeling, based on those

         13  programs, is just putting up posters, or numbers,

         14  phone numbers, is really not good enough. It sort of

         15  takes that active outreach.

         16                 And I think it's fair to say that

         17  most of our members would be more than happy to

         18  participate with advocacy groups to do that kind of

         19  thing, a table and a store on a Saturday. That's not

         20  a big deal, we could do that. And it looks like the

         21  outcome is pretty good.

         22                 So, again, my message really is just

         23  to let you know that we really do consider ourselves

         24  partners, and we'll do everything we can to support

         25  your efforts.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Well, I do

          3  think it's extraordinary, because I can think of so

          4  many other situations where an industry would

          5  benefit from engaging the community in a way that is

          6  good for the society and good for the industry, but

          7  that seems to go right by people in many cases. So,

          8  I think it's tremendous that the food industry sees

          9  this opportunity as already starting to experiment

         10  with how to do it, and since no good deed goes

         11  unpunished, we will make sure to follow up with you

         12  really to see if we can start a systematic effort.

         13  Because as we said earlier, what is finally starting

         14  to happen with earned income tax credit really

         15  should be a model for where we need to go now on

         16  food stamps as well, and unlike earned income tax

         17  credit with food stamps, we have maybe an even

         18  easier venue to do the outreach through being the

         19  whole food industry.

         20                 MS. BRODHAGEN: Yes. And our members

         21  speak very highly of FNS, you know, because that's

         22  really who we work with in terms of being qualified.

         23  It's a very professional agency, as well. So, you

         24  know, this is one of those that's a no brainer.

         25                 I got to tell you, the food industry
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          2  right now is, sales are struggling, you know, the

          3  economy is hitting us all and our non-traditional

          4  competition only increases, and, so, this is very

          5  important to the food industry as well.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you very

          7  much.

          8                 Carlos Rodriguez.

          9                 MR. RODRIGUEZ: Thank you.

         10                 Thank you, Mr. Chairperson, and

         11  members of the Committee for holding this hearing on

         12  the food stamp access problem in New York City.

         13                 My name is Carlos Rodriguez, and I'm

         14  Director of Food Stamp Initiatives and Policy for

         15  Community Food Resource Center, and we're a

         16  not-for-profit agency that provides over 200,000

         17  meals a year to underserved people, informs tens of

         18  thousands of households on their potential

         19  eligibility for food stamps and prevents over 2,000

         20  families from becoming homeless.

         21                 I'm going to limit my testimony to a

         22  few general comments, but I encourage everyone to

         23  read our report Missing Millions/Missing Meals: New

         24  York City's Food Stamp Crisis, which we've provided

         25  for you, and you can also find on our website,
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          2  CRFCnyc.org.

          3                 We've heard today from Commissioner

          4  Eggleston regarding new leadership at the Human

          5  Resource Administration, and she has articulated

          6  more humane goals and her interests in expanding the

          7  food stamp program. However, we heard also today

          8  from clients describing a culture of callous and

          9  even cruel treatment of applicants and recipients.

         10                 What I want to address today is how

         11  do we turn good leadership into better management,

         12  so that the stories that we hear, the stories of the

         13  clients that you've heard today, become less and

         14  less of the every day story, and so that the

         15  economic activity that is much needed, as Patricia

         16  just mentioned, the City can avail from.

         17                 Our report states that New York City

         18  is losing close to a billion dollars a year in

         19  federal dollars, and that's food stamp federal

         20  dollars. We conservatively estimate that another

         21  $1.4 billion a year in economic activity can be

         22  associated by that.

         23                 And that's conservative, because you

         24  heard Mr. Canavan say that for every food stamp

         25  dollars that could be anywhere between three and
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          2  five additional dollars generated in economic

          3  activity.

          4                 Again, where is the food stamp

          5  problem, where are the roots of its current

          6  mismanagement?

          7                 Well, between 1996 and 2002, more

          8  than 500,000 New York City recipients were dropped

          9  from the food stamp program, mostly as a result of

         10  the previous Mayor's policy to reduce the welfare

         11  rolls. We know this.

         12                 Many of those who left benefits were

         13  still eligible for food stamps or welfare or even

         14  both.

         15                 Today, by conservative measures, we

         16  estimate that well over anywhere between 800,000 and

         17  a million New Yorkers could still be eligible, and

         18  that translates into the economic activity that I

         19  just outlined for you.

         20                 Unfortunately, entrenched in New York

         21  City's Administration are policy attitudinal and

         22  operational barriers, which ironically as a growing

         23  number of New Yorkers are going to the emergency

         24  food providers because of a downturn in the economy,

         25  because the past mismanagement of the food stamp
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          2  program, all the money that we could be gaining that

          3  we're not gaining, and additionally what you're

          4  seeing, as your report mentioned, is an increase in

          5  folks having to resort to emergency food providers.

          6                 Our faith-based communities and other

          7  CBOs are doing an excellent job at trying to meet

          8  the need but their best efforts cannot take care of

          9  this problem.

         10                 This is a problem that needs

         11  government intervention and government solutions.

         12  And the solution is actually already there, it's the

         13  food stamp program. By all means, it is the most

         14  effective response to hunger. The federal government

         15  covers the full cost of benefits, and as you heard,

         16  which confuses me a little bit regarding HRA's

         17  testimony, it also covers half of the administrative

         18  cost. So, I'm concerned whether the 237 million that

         19  they were speaking to, is that their share? Or is

         20  that the total cost of benefits, administrative

         21  benefits that they have, because half of it is

         22  picked up by the federal government.

         23                 Again, we've heard today from a

         24  senior, we heard today from a caretaker of five

         25  grandchildren, but the truth is that low-income
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          2  people have greater access to nutritious food, food

          3  stores will serve more customers, which will

          4  translate into more wages, more employment and more

          5  tax revenue. Not through food, but because then

          6  clients have the ability to spend their income on

          7  other things as well.

          8                 We're talking about over $2.3 billion

          9  total that the City can gain by increasing food

         10  stamp access. My challenge to HRA is that leadership

         11  is indeed the first step, however, we need to make

         12  specific policy changes in the food stamp program.

         13  Three things that they can immediately do is ensure

         14  that families leaving welfare receive the

         15  transitional food stamp benefits, not just for five

         16  months, but after the five months, as well.

         17                 Many families who leave public

         18  assistance are eligible for welfare -- who are

         19  eligible still for food stamps, rather.

         20                 Just to give you an example: A family

         21  of three, who is fortunate enough to work 40 hours a

         22  week at an $8 an hour job, can still get up to $180

         23  a month in food stamp benefits. Most welfare leavers

         24  cannot find that kind of steady employment. And if

         25  they do, as I just illustrated, they may still be
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          2  eligible for food stamps.

          3                 The other thing that HRA can do

          4  immediately, is enroll all immigrants who are

          5  eligible. Mr. Diamond mentioned earlier that food

          6  stamp restoration will be taking place for

          7  immigrants in three phases, one of those phases

          8  already started. April 1st is the next phase of

          9  restoration, and, again, in October 1st of 2003.

         10                 HRA has the ability to start taking

         11  applications well before they become eligible on

         12  April 1st and October 1st. And they can do that.

         13  USDA has said they would accept, they can start to

         14  accept the applications up to two months ahead of

         15  time. The benefits of that is that clients won't be

         16  applying on April 1st, they would already have

         17  applied and they can start receiving benefits on

         18  April 1st. And because the rules are complicated, it

         19  would actually give the center more time to make

         20  sure that they process cases correctly.

         21                 The other thing, and I actually

         22  surprised that Commissioner Eggleston mentioned this

         23  today, is that HRA should take the waiver for

         24  able-bodied adults without dependent children. I

         25  want to clarify for the record that it is not a
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          2  waiver of work requirement; it is a waiver against

          3  the ridiculous time limits that are imposed on

          4  single adults without dependent children, a waiver

          5  which states, counties across the state actually,

          6  some actually fight to make sure that they're

          7  eligible for it. Because ultimately if you want to

          8  manage the program in a more simpler, more

          9  streamlined fashion, you're going to take these

         10  options that are available to you. Not taking it is

         11  simply ideological, or worse yet, a misunderstanding

         12  of the rule. And we've heard a couple of those

         13  misunderstandings of the rules today.

         14                 It's very good that one center in

         15  four boroughs is open on Saturdays to take

         16  applications, but making the client come back to do

         17  recertification or to verify information during the

         18  week, almost negates the fact that you're taking an

         19  application on a Saturday.

         20                 We've been talking about the

         21  application quite a bit today, and indeed it is a

         22  ridiculous application that the state imposed on the

         23  City to a certain extent.

         24                 However, the City could afford to

         25  maintain using the eight-page application that it
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          2  was previously using. Or at the very least it could

          3  have ensured that their centers would take that

          4  application or the shorter eight-page applications

          5  as they're required to by law. And a survey that we

          6  did earlier and that we actually sent up to the

          7  state articulates or points out that the centers

          8  weren't even informed that they had that option, and

          9  we can provide the results of that very quick survey

         10  that we did to you.

         11                 Regarding how much the client has to

         12  fill out of those 16 pages, I'm surprised Mr.

         13  Canavan didn't mention this, but the only thing that

         14  the client has to fill out in order for the center

         15  to be legally obligated to accept it, is the name,

         16  address and a signature. If those three things are

         17  filled out, then the center is required by law to

         18  take the application and assist the client in

         19  filling the rest.

         20                 So, for the clients that would come

         21  in at 5:00 let's say, so long as they have those

         22  three elements, the application should be processed.

         23                 One of the other issues that we

         24  talked about, and indeed Commissioner Eggleston,

         25  it's a very valid point that over 1,300 HRA workers
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          2  took the retirement buy-out and that they only

          3  recently were able to hire 120, I believe she said,

          4  to fill some of those rolls. Well, part of this

          5  management problem that I'm referring to is that

          6  we're hearing from centers now, saying things like

          7  we can't process expedited food stamps, because if

          8  we did, we'd be here all night. We don't have the

          9  capacity to do so.

         10                 So, to that affect, it doesn't really

         11  make any sense that we have the ability to do

         12  same-day expedited benefits, or issue same day

         13  expedited benefits, because the workers aren't

         14  providing that screening at the front door the way

         15  they're actually required to by law.

         16                 This is a management issue, and this

         17  is an issue regarding to lack of personnel, then

         18  this is something we definitely need to intervene,

         19  especially since I mentioned earlier, and we heard

         20  from numerous folks, it's 50 percent of the

         21  administrative costs are covered by the federal

         22  government.

         23                 We've, as you've heard today we have

         24  a number of food stamp initiatives. The Food Force

         25  Program, which goes out and does pre-screening is
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          2  one of them, and we also managed the food stamp

          3  media campaign, of which the City Council funds a

          4  portion of that.

          5                 The other benefit of increasing

          6  outreach and increasing pre-screening with City

          7  dollars, is that the federal government actually

          8  matches that. $250,000 that the City Council

          9  provides actually gets matched by USDA, and we're

         10  able to then provide the City with a $500,000 media

         11  campaign.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Let me jump in,

         13  because I know we're running the clock down here for

         14  everyone, and I want to just comment on a couple of

         15  quick points and then we'll go to Mr. Berg.

         16                 You've raised two very troubling

         17  pieces of testimony today. And there was a general

         18  collegiality between the Committee and the

         19  Administration on a lot of this, but there's some

         20  real dissidence on how to get some of this done. And

         21  when I asked, somewhat in shock, about the impact of

         22  spending the administrative dollars, and I was very

         23  surprised to hear the reticence in both officials

         24  answers. And I understand in a time of budget

         25  cutting that OMB does not look at necessarily the
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          2  multiplier impact, the multiplier effect of each

          3  dollar spent, it simply looks at the dollar being

          4  spent, but in this case, particularly when your math

          5  is very helpful here, when you look at the direct

          6  billion, and then the 1.4 billion additional

          7  activity and you think about that, and then the half

          8  of the administrative costs being covered, I found

          9  it, I guess I felt like something was happening that

         10  wasn't entirely in the spirit that Mr. Canavan was

         11  talking about, that some kind of prioritization had

         12  not occurred to protect the resources necessary to

         13  make sure we could process as many people possible.

         14  And it certainly didn't sound like there was yet an

         15  administrative policy that insisted on the

         16  caseworkers getting as many people enrolled as

         17  possible, because in a sense it's almost as if you

         18  should have a quota system, the more you enroll, the

         19  better off you are, you get a bonus, because you're

         20  bringing so much money into the City.

         21                 So, I heard good things, but I didn't

         22  hear that urgency and that kind of focus that I

         23  would have like to have heard.

         24                 MR. RODRIGUEZ: That's what's missing.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you.
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          2  Thank you very much.

          3                 Last but not all least, one of the

          4  great experts, even such an expert that HRA will

          5  listen to him occasionally.

          6                 MR. BERG: I'm on the Committee, no

          7  one said they listened.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: That's a

          9  realist.

         10                 MR. BERG: And that's my opening line,

         11  Mr. Chairperson. As Benjamin Franklin said, "Never

         12  confuse motion with action."

         13                 First, I want to thank the Committee

         14  for having this very urgent hearing. I also want to

         15  thank your staff for working overtime over the

         16  weekend. Staff rarely gets thanked, as a former and

         17  current staff, I always do that.

         18                 We at the Coalition, we represent the

         19  more than 1,000 soup kitchen and food pantries in

         20  New York City and the more than 1 million low-income

         21  New Yorkers they serve, including numerous agencies

         22  in both the Councilpeoples' districts here, and

         23  everyone on the Committee. We are truly thankful of

         24  the different tone and different rhetoric and

         25  different language out of this Administration. We
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          2  are also thankful about certain policy actions -

          3  preserving the Emergency Food Assistance Program at

          4  $11 million a year, a lot of that we attribute to

          5  the City Council; the Mayor signing the Living Wage

          6  Bill; even just the way they're talking about this

          7  is certainly an improvement. But as Carlos and

          8  others have talked about, $11 million in the

          9  Emergency Food Assistance Program, compared to $900

         10  million in federal funds for the food stamp program

         11  really is a drop in the bucket.

         12                 I can tell you, Mr. Chairman, I

         13  actually was in the Clinton Administration, as you

         14  were, I worked at the Department of Agriculture, and

         15  we dramatically downsized the bureaucracy and

         16  increased the amount of people who got benefits. I

         17  know at the Department of Housing and Urban

         18  Development you did the same thing, so I must

         19  suggest it's a red herring to say it's going to cost

         20  the City more money.

         21                 If you give the benefits on the first

         22  visit, instead of the fourth visit, if you have a

         23  two-page application, that you have to print only

         24  two pages instead of 16, if you only have to walk

         25  through people two pages instead of 16, you save
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          2  money by increase in benefits. And you can follow up

          3  with USDA, and you can follow up with the State,

          4  other municipalities that have increased benefits

          5  have not increased administrative costs, if they've

          6  done it right they've decreased administrative

          7  costs.

          8                 Imagine this, that your house is on

          9  fire, you go to the local fire station, the City

         10  Council has preserved the fire station there, and

         11  the fireman tells you that they can't fight your

         12  fire and they'll never fight your fire. That's the

         13  same as going to HRA office and saying they don't

         14  have an application. That's the bear minimum. I know

         15  you're trying to be collegial, and we're always

         16  trying to be collegial, but the fact that the

         17  website was wrong on so many offices, the fact that

         18  they don't even have the applications, no less

         19  they're signing people up, and the fact that all

         20  that's just the tip of the iceberg shows serious,

         21  serious, serious problems, and the rhetoric has not

         22  yet been put into serious actions, and I'll give you

         23  some specifics.

         24                 And the other thing is there's still

         25  a schizophrenia, and you saw it today. On one hand,
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          2  yes, we want to do better, yes we want access; and

          3  on the other hand, every time you raised a single

          4  specific thing, there's denial. There's an attack on

          5  another member of the Council that, you know,

          6  somehow there were typos and a redraft. It's absurd.

          7                 My other quote of today is Chico

          8  Marks. And some people sound like Chico Marks, "Who

          9  you going to believe - me, or your own eyes?"

         10                 We've demonstrated, you've

         11  demonstrated, the media has independently

         12  demonstrated, the need of food pantries and soup

         13  kitchens is sky-rocketing, and New York City has the

         14  worst record on food stamps in the whole country.

         15                 You have a wonderful career of civil

         16  servants from USDA, and his job is to be as factual

         17  as possible without doing anything that's

         18  controversial or offensive, and he did a great job.

         19  Now that I'm out of the government, I can say the

         20  truth, we have the worst record in the entire

         21  country. 550,000 people since 1996.

         22                 Now, the other unfortunate tendency

         23  is the intent to blame everyone but the City. The

         24  truth is, all the regulations and the laws are the

         25  same for the country. Food stamps is an entitlement
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          2  like Social Security. I won't drag up the chart

          3  again. Food stamps, yes, it decreased dramatically

          4  after '96 and '97, but the last two years it

          5  sky-rocketed around the country, because it's

          6  counter-cyclical, food stamps are supposed to go up

          7  when the economy goes down, and even conservative

          8  republicans have come to understand food stamps

          9  aren't welfare, they're work support. That's the

         10  position of the Bush Administration, that's the

         11  position of the Pataki Administration, and that's

         12  still not unequivocally the position of the

         13  Bloomberg Administration. So, the reality today is

         14  they may be to the right of the Bush Administration

         15  and the Pataki Administration on this very issue.

         16                 Case in point: Last two years, New

         17  York City economy lost lots of jobs, unemployment

         18  went up 44 percent, need of soup kitchens and food

         19  pantries went up 45 percent, food stamps

         20  participation over that same time period went down

         21  four percent. It's just unbelievable.

         22                 Our survey showed this year, because

         23  the pantries and kitchens are running out of food, a

         24  high percentage of them had to turn away hungry New

         25  Yorkers, over 400,000 hungry New Yorkers were turned
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          2  away, either having to go hungry or to go some place

          3  else for food.

          4                 It's also critical to understand that

          5  the kitchens and pantries are not replacing the food

          6  that otherwise they would have gotten, folks would

          7  have gotten from food stamps. The average food

          8  stamps benefit is higher in New York City than the

          9  average benefit of $180 a family. The average food

         10  pantry box, or the average food you get from a soup

         11  kitchen is dwarfed by that.

         12                 It's also important, yes, there was a

         13  five percent increase over the last ten months of

         14  the Administration, but again when you consider that

         15  there was a 28 percent decrease over the last few

         16  years, the fact that, you know, there was a 100-foot

         17  hole dug by the predecessors, they come along and

         18  fill in a foot and brag they fixed the hole, that's

         19  really not the reality.

         20                 I don't understand where Deputy

         21  Commissioner Diamond got the statistics that we're

         22  somehow above the national rate of food stamps

         23  participation. I think if the Council independently

         24  looks at that, looks at any USDA study, we are way

         25  below, way below the national rate. And there were
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          2  other things that were said today that don't jive

          3  with my understanding of reality.

          4                 There was a repeated reference to the

          5  term "presumptive eligibility." The Council should

          6  be aware, that is not a legal term. That does not

          7  exist as a term. I'm not sure what the City was

          8  asking for the state or the federal government.

          9  Under current federal law all applicants have

         10  presumptive eligibility. Under federal law you apply

         11  for benefits, then the government, after getting you

         12  expedited food stamps benefits, if you're expedited

         13  then they check. We already have presumptive

         14  eligibility. This continued claim that it's the

         15  state, it's the federal government; how can it be

         16  the federal government's fault if participation is

         17  dramatically increasing around the country with a

         18  low unemployment rate? How can it be the state's

         19  fault if Syracuse, Rochester, Yonkers, Nassau,

         20  Suffolk, Rockland, all over the state they have a

         21  higher increase in eligibility and participation,

         22  even though a lower unemployment rate? The fault

         23  here, Brutis, is not in the stars, but in New York

         24  City.

         25                 I am on the Advisory Board to the
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          2  Commissioner, I'll just note for the record, and you

          3  can go back and look at the minutes, there has not

          4  been a substantive discussion of food stamps

          5  eligibility since I've been on the board.

          6                 And I will just close by saying, and

          7  I'll repeat, that the problem still flows from the

          8  assumptions. The assumption is the health care is

          9  good, people get it, food stamps are bad, people

         10  don't.

         11                 HRA can do better. They have done

         12  better. They did an amazing job with disaster food

         13  stamps. Carlos has been involved in this, we were

         14  involved in this, 32,000 people got disaster food

         15  stamps after September 11th. $3.75 million in

         16  federal benefits over just the course of a few

         17  weeks. Why? Because people were treated with

         18  dignity, compassion, efficiency, and it was based on

         19  assumptions that they deserve the benefits, they're

         20  still on unspoken assumption that you don't deserve

         21  food stamps, you're a dirty robber and crook, we're

         22  not going to get you the benefits.

         23                 We'll leave you in our testimony a

         24  lot of the specific recommendations, and somewhat

         25  similar to Carlos' recommendations. It's again
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          2  important to note the City has never formally

          3  requested the state to lessen the food stamps

          4  application.

          5                 Bob didn't mention, USDA is actually

          6  prohibited by federal law from requiring states to

          7  have smaller applications, but when I was there,

          8  Secretary Glickman did everything within his legal

          9  ability to ask states to reduce the application,

         10  other states have done it, saying somehow the states

         11  prohibit it.

         12                 The claim that the states -- that the

         13  City is somehow prohibited from doing not

         14  pre-application, pre-screening, again, you will hear

         15  a lot of generalities, I would question HRA what

         16  supposed specific change in the law? There has been

         17  no change.  Throughout the entire country,

         18  throughout the entire state people do pre-screening.

         19  There is no state prohibition on it happening in New

         20  York City. There is no federal prohibition on

         21  happening in New York City.

         22                 Every time you heard vague

         23  generalities, I just beg you to ask for the

         24  specifics. Show me the money, so-to-speak.

         25                 I'd like to say, you know, it's
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          2  pretty easy to register to vote in New York State.

          3  Does it mean that someone is legally registered

          4  until the Board of Elections certifies them? Of

          5  course not. But there is a presumption. And, of

          6  course, voter fraud is a felony. Food stamps fraud,

          7  when it happens, and when it happens it's more

          8  frequently big operators, not low-income working

          9  people trying to feed their families. We should have

         10  a presumption that people are eligible to feed their

         11  families. That's what federal law stipulates. That's

         12  what the Gingrich Congress did.

         13                 I'll just close by saying, Newt

         14  Gingrich's House of Representatives, even their

         15  version of the Welfare Reform Bill that they passed

         16  in '96 maintained food stamps as a separate

         17  entitlement, separate than the TANF program, with

         18  separate eligibility requirements, separate

         19  recertification requirements, separate work

         20  requirements. And, yet, at a meeting a number of us

         21  were at a few months ago, a Deputy Commissioner of

         22  HRA, not one that was here today, but a Deputy

         23  Commissioner of HRA actually told the audience,

         24  including state, including federal officials, that

         25  the only way to apply for food stamps in New York
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          2  City was to apply for TANF.

          3                 So, they were even admitting at a

          4  public meeting the City still routinely violating

          5  federal law.

          6                 We love the fact that there's a new

          7  rhetoric, we love the fact that there's been a

          8  marginal increase in participation, we love the fact

          9  that the City did preserve the Emergency Food

         10  Assistance Program, but we really need to keep the

         11  pressure on to have the rhetoric match day-to-day

         12  realities from the Commissioner to the Deputy

         13  Commissioners onto the receptionists, and people

         14  have to be evaluated on their work performance on

         15  this program.

         16                 Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Mr. Berg, I

         18  have one core question. How do you really feel on

         19  this issue? I mean, you know, you shouldn't hold

         20  back in front of the City Council. You should be

         21  yourself.

         22                 MR. BERG: Normally I'm a lot shyer

         23  than I am today.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Extremely

         25  effective testimony. You hit a lot of nails on the
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          2  head there.

          3                 I mean, again, I do find it very

          4  interesting that the undertone of the HRA testimony,

          5  it was almost as if there was two running

          6  testimonies at once. I think you noted that kind of

          7  dichotomy, that there was one that was genuinely

          8  different from everything we heard for way too many

          9  years, and there was one that was hedging bets and

         10  explaining failures or covering failures and

         11  lowering expectations. And I appreciate the intent

         12  of your testimony because I almost feel like this is

         13  yet another example where we have to be on the

         14  quote/unquote wartime footing, and not that we want

         15  to hold up war as our exemplar but we have to have

         16  the urgency and the sense that we are in such a

         17  crisis that we wipe away the historic way of doing

         18  business. And I loved what you said right down to

         19  the receptionist, that every person in the operation

         20  understand that this is a patriotic act, if you

         21  will, to sign up someone for food stamps.

         22                 So, I want to believe maybe that

         23  we're not experiencing the same kind of resistance

         24  we used to, that eventually we will move some of

         25  these functional pieces forward, but it's clear that
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          2  we still don't have an atmosphere of how do we get

          3  to yes running through all of our City government on

          4  this issue.

          5                 MR. BERG: I'll just say, you know, in

          6  the federal government, even between the Regan and

          7  Bush Administration, virtually every key appointee

          8  changed. I don't want to talk about personalities,

          9  but the fact is the top two positions at HRA

         10  changed, and every other single position, the people

         11  who were responsible for carrying out the removal of

         12  more than a half million dollars from the food

         13  stamps program are still in charge of it. People can

         14  change, people can do what they're ordered to do.

         15  That being said, you still hear reluctance to,

         16  goodness forbid, every admit we were wrong.

         17                 You know, Secretary Glickman said the

         18  Department was wrong for not making food stamp

         19  applications shorter, even though they were

         20  prohibited from doing much more under federal law.

         21  There's no crime in saying we've done wrong in the

         22  past, we can do better. But it's just human nature,

         23  people are reluctant to do that, and bureaucracies

         24  are doubly reluctant to do that.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: That sums it up
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          2  beautifully.

          3                 One last word from Council Member

          4  Kendall Stewart.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: Since we have

          6  the problem of awareness, and you just said awhile

          7  ago that people who make, a family of three making

          8  $8 an hour for a 40-hour week, they're entitled to

          9  at least $180 worth of food stamps, right? Wasn't

         10  that the analogy?

         11                 MR. BERG: Yes, sir.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: I am saying,

         13  there are so many people that might fit into that

         14  category because even though there might be one

         15  person working, because of the size of the family

         16  and the amount they're working for, they may meet

         17  that criteria.

         18                 What is the reason that we did not

         19  have a written criteria so that we can have this

         20  awareness out there that people can actually know

         21  that they are entitled to this benefit? Why is that

         22  such a problem that -- I thought that food stamps

         23  were only for people who were not working at all, or

         24  who were on welfare, whatever, and that was my first

         25  notion.
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          2                 MR. RODRIGUEZ: We have a very

          3  successful campaign that you in part helped fund,

          4  the Food Stamp Media Campaign, advertising access to

          5  the Food Card. The problem is in fact that a lot of

          6  the people don't know, but with our campaign in the

          7  last year, over 90,000 individuals in New York City

          8  have called to ask for more information. So, is it

          9  the problem that they're not trying to access the

         10  information? Or is the problem really that they're

         11  being bottlenecked at these welfare centers and food

         12  stamp centers and not being allowed to participate.

         13                 The word is out there. The fact of

         14  the matter is that no matter how much information

         15  you put forth, the best kind of outreach, the best

         16  kind of media is word of mouth. Because if I tell

         17  ten people go and apply and they do, and five of

         18  them come back with horror stories, 20 more people

         19  will never go and apply. And our experience in doing

         20  food stamp outreach, my personal experience of the

         21  last seven years has proven that.

         22                 So, again, getting the word out,

         23  we've done that to the tune of 90,000 in the last

         24  year, but we have to address what the reception is

         25  once clients actually take the information and go
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          2  with it.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: So there is

          4  basically a two-fold problem. One is knowing what

          5  the criteria is.

          6                 MR. RODRIGUEZ: Exactly.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: And, two,

          8  when you go there to fill out the application.

          9                 MR. RODRIGUEZ: Exactly. We want to

         10  make sure that once we get them there that they

         11  don't experience what clients have expressed to you

         12  that they experienced. We want to make sure that

         13  once you -- we're spending good money on getting

         14  clients to go in and apply, and HRA has been very

         15  supportive of that, however, we need to make sure

         16  that they manage the program in a way that continues

         17  the positive reception, the positive information

         18  that we're portraying.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART: All right.

         20  Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: Thank you,

         22  everyone. It was very, very helpful, and I want to

         23  wish all of you a happy holidays, especially as this

         24  is the time of year when your work becomes more

         25  important. And thank you, everyone. We learned a lot
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          2  today. Be well.

          3                 MR. RODRIGUEZ: Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DeBLASIO: This meeting is

          5  adjourned.

          6                 (The following written testimony was

          7  read into the record.)

          8

          9

         10  Written Testimony Of:

         11  Fidelina Corporan

         12

         13                 I, Mrs. Fidelina Corporan, would like

         14  to take this opportunity to share with the City

         15  Council my recent experiences regarding food stamp

         16  benefits.

         17                 My husband Billy Corporan, and I have

         18  two children, ages 6, and 1 month old. Currently, I

         19  am unable to work because I take care of my newborn

         20  son, who was born premature. During the month of

         21  October 2002, while I was 9 months pregnant, my

         22  husband and I came upon hard times as we were both

         23  unemployed. We decided to seek public assistance. At

         24  our initial visit to the HRA office, our caseworker

         25  informed us that we would receive emergency food
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          2  stamps, cash assistance, and rental assistance.

          3                 That day we were given $46 for

          4  emergency food. Since then, we've received cash and

          5  rental assistance for the months of November and

          6  December. However, we only received a food stamp

          7  deposit of $139 in the month of October.

          8                 After trying unsuccessfully to reach

          9  our caseworker over the phone to inquire about why

         10  we were no longer receiving food stamps, my husband

         11  and I went to the HRA office to talk to her

         12  personally. When we met her, we were treated with

         13  great indifference and she refused to explain why we

         14  were no longer receiving food stamps. I told her

         15  that we desperately needed food stamps, and she was

         16  still very unprofessional with us. She dismissed us

         17  without any explanation, and told us that whatever

         18  she had to say to us, she would do through the mail.

         19  Presently, we have yet to receive any notification

         20  with regards to our case or any written confirmation

         21  that it has been closed.

         22                 Thank you.

         23                 Written by Fidelina Corporan and

         24  translated by the West Side Campaign Against Hunger.

         25  To contact Mrs. Corporan call 718/620-7659
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          2

          3

          4  Written Testimony Of:

          5  Ms. Davis

          6

          7  Testimony: General Welfare Committee, City Council,

          8  New York City

          9

         10  Date: Monday, December 16th, 2002

         11

         12  By: A Food Pantry Customer, West Side Campaign

         13  Against Hunger, December 12th, recorded by the WSCAH

         14  social worker, Holly Parks

         15

         16  Client name has been changed to protect

         17  confidentiality.

         18                 Ms. Davis, a single mother of two

         19  children, ages 13 and 14 years, was injured at work

         20  in September of 2002.

         21                 Ms. Davis applied for Food Stamps at

         22  the beginning of October 2002.

         23                 Ms. Davis was awarded temporary

         24  disability by her employer, and received $732.00 for

         25  one month. She has not received any income for the
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          2  past two months due to a delay in processing medical

          3  records that confirm her medical condition. She pays

          4  $501 a month rent, and is now behind in payments due

          5  to her loss of income.

          6                 Ms. Davis has had great difficulty

          7  trying to get in touch with her Caseworker. Her

          8  phone calls inquiring about the status of her

          9  application have never been returned. She finally

         10  spoke with a Supervisor who told her rudely that she

         11  would close the case by 12/20/02 if she did not

         12  provide the necessary documents.

         13                 According to a recent conversation

         14  between Ms. Davis and the Caseworker handling her

         15  Food Stamp application, the delay in processing has

         16  resulted from her not submitting birth certificates

         17  for her children. Ms. Davis said that she was not

         18  informed of all of the documents needed.

         19                 Ms. Davis has submitted a letter from

         20  her children's school as proof of their residency,

         21  and documents from her physicians regarding her

         22  medical condition. As of December 13th 2002 Ms.

         23  Davis had not received either food stamps or

         24  benefits.

         25                 Ms. Davis needs surgery for her
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          2  injury. The recuperation of the surgery is 4-6

          3  months. She will need and child care for her

          4  children.

          5

          6  Presented by: Doreen Wohl, Executive Director, West

          7  Side Campaign Against Hunger

          8

          9

         10  Written Testimony Of:

         11  WSCAH

         12

         13  Stories of food

         14  By WSCAH

         15

         16  Story A-09-2002

         17

         18                 Mrs. G is a single mother with 3

         19  children. The mother has a limited education and all

         20  3 kids are under the age of 10. She was laid off

         21  from her job and does not qualify for unemployment

         22  benefits. Mrs. G has worked as a home attendant

         23  caring for the elderly for 5 years. She expressed to

         24  me that the food stamp application process made her

         25  feel humiliated. Mrs. G was made to wait 6 hours
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          2  just to receive the food stamp application. After

          3  this ordeal it took about 50 days to receive the

          4  food stamp approval letter. The following month this

          5  mother of three was told she had been sanctioned due

          6  to a missing document. After nearly 90 she had not

          7  received the food stamps. Left with the only choice

          8  available this family came to the pantry for help.

          9                 (End of written testimony.)

         10                 (Hearing concluded at 4:55 p.m.)
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          1

          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.

         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 16th day of December 2002.

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24

                                   ---------------------

         25                          CINDY MILLELOT, CSR.
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